The Corporation of the Town of

G£SNANOQUE

HERITAGE COMMITTEE AGENDA

June 19, 2018 @ 10:00 AM
Emergency Services Building, 340 Herbert Street

ltem Title/Description Recommended Action / Dra‘ft
Attachment Motion
1 CALL To ORDER
2 | ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA
3 HEALTH SAFETY & WELLNESS
4 | DISCLOSURE OF PECUNIARY INTEREST & THE GENERAL NATURE THEREOF
5 PuBLIC QUESTION/COMMENT
6 DEPUTATIONS
7 REPORTS/NEW BUSINESS
Agnes Maule Machar Plaque Update
Blinkbonnie Designation g @ Update
Heritage Grants ﬂ Discussion
Updated Bylaws b Update
Meeting Dates and Times
8 | CORRESPONDENCE
MINUTES OF COMMITTEE (ADOPTION)
’ March 14, 2018 i
10 | MEMBERS OF THE PRESS QUESTIONS OR COMMENTS
11 | ADJOURNMENT
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The Corporation of the Town of

G 4 NANOQUE
COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE MEETING MINUTES

On April 3, 2018
At Emergency Services Building — 340 Herbert Street

ComMITTEE MEMBERS PRESENT STAFF PRESENT
CHAIR: Dwayne Fletcher Shellee Fournier, CAO
MEMBERS: Erika Demchuk Penny Kelly, Clerk/CEMC
Joe Jansen Melanie Kirkby, Treasurer
Anne Warren Paul McMunn, Manager of Public Works
Brenda Guy, Community Development Manager
Terry Gilmer, Manager of Parks & Recreation
Steve Tiernan, Fire Chief
REGRETS: Brian Brooks Sherri Ogilvie, Supervisor of Public Utilities
Jeff Girling
Jan Hayes
CALL MEETING TO ORDER

Councillor Fletcher chaired the meeting. The meeting was called to order at 6:15 PM.

DISCLOSURE OF PECUNIARY INTEREST & GENERAL NATURE THEREOF — NONE

APPROVAL OF MINUTES - March 20, 2018 (AbopTioN)

Moved by: Councillor Warren
Be it resolved that the Committee of the Whole hereby adopt the minutes from the March 20, 2018
meeting.

CARRIED - UNANIMOUS

PusLICc QUESTION/COMMENT (Only addressing Reports on Agenda)

Members from the public spoke to items on the Agenda.

UNFINISHED BUSINESS

Shellee Fournier, Chief Administrative Officer (CAO)

COW-CA0-2018-05 — Thousand Island Daycare — Amending Lease Agreement

Moved by: Councillor Warren
As recommended by the Committee of the Whole be it resolved that the Council of the Town of
Gananoque pass By-law No. 2018-032, being a By-law to authorize the Mayor and Clerk to execute
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an amending Lease Agreement with the Thousand Island Day Care Inc., for a portion of 400 Stone
Street North thereby extending the Term of the Lease to June 30, 2019, as presented in COW
Report—CAO-2018-05.

CARRIED — UNANIMOUS

Brenda Guy, Manager of Community Development

COW-CD-2018-04 — OPA5/18 — 995423 Ontario Inc. — 760 Stone Street North

Moved by: Councillor Warren
As recommended by the Committee of the Whole be it resolved that the Council of the Town of
Gananoque pass By-law No. 2018-033, being a By-law to approve OPA5/2018 to redesignate the
lands municipally known as 760 Stone Street North from Residential to Highway Commercial, as
presented in COW Report—CD-2018-04.

CARRIED - UNANIMOUS

Paul McMunn, Manager of Public Works

COW-RDS-2018-03 ~ Second Boat Launch Update

Moved by: Councillor Warren

As recommended by the Committee of the Whole be it resolved that the Council of the Town of
Gananoque approve Option No. 2, (Finalize the MCEA document with the intention of completing
the boat launch at the Marina in 2018, as well as develop Kate Street and St. Lawrence Street, as per
Attachment 4) with regards to the Second Boat Launch, as presented in COW Report—RDS-2018-03.

CARRIED — UNANIMOUS

DISCLOSURE OF ADDITIONAL ITEMS — NONE

DELEGATIONS

Jennifer LaBelle, Public Health Nurse, Leeds Grenville and Lanark District Health Unit — Eastern
Ontario Active Transportation Summit (EOATS) Committee — Request for Funding

e Ms. LaBelle appeared before the Committee of the Whole and provided an overview of the
Eastern Ontario Active Transportation Summit (EOATS) and requested that the Committee of the
Whole consider a request for funding in the amount of $1,000.

Eastern Ontario Active Transportation Summit (EOATS) Committee — Request for Funding

Moved by: Councillor Warren
As recommended by the Committee of the Whole be it resolved that the Council of the Town of
Gananoque approve the Eastern Ontario Active Transportation Summit (EOATS) Committee’s funding
request in the amount of $350.00, to be taken from the Council Grant budget.

CARRIED — UNANIMOUS

Ron Casselman, Rotary Club — Request for Funding

e Mr. Casselman appeared before the Committee of the Whole and requested that the Committee
of the Whole consider a funding request in the of $75.00 for the rental of the Recreation Facility
for the purpose of holding All Candidate Meetings for elections.
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Rotary Club - Request for Funding

Moved by: Councillor Warren
As recommended by the Committee of the Whole be it resolved that the Council of the Town of
Gananoque approve the Rotary Club’s funding request in the amount of $0.00, for the rental of the
Recreation Facility to hold All Candidate Meetings.

CARRIED - UNANIMOUS

8 PRESENTATIONS BY STAFF — NONE
9 CORRESPONDENCE
Police Services Board Minutes — January 11, 2018
Abundant Solar Energy Inc. — Feed in Tariff (FIT) Program
Heritage Committee Minutes — March 14, 2018 (+Ref. Report COW-ED-2018-02)
Chris McDonald — Second Boat Launch
10 | STAFF REPORTS

Accounts Payable from March 13, 2018 to March 27, 2018

Moved by: Councillor Warren
As recommended by the Committee of the Whole be it resolved that the Council of the Town of
Gananoque receive the Statement of Accounts Payable for cheques issued from March 13t to 27,
2018 totalling $738,617.64, as presented.

CARRIED - UNANIMOUS

COW-ED-2018-02 - Proposed Heritage Designation — Blinkbonnie — 50 Main Street (+Ref. Heritage
Committee Minutes)

Moved by: Councillor Warren
As recommended by the Committee of the Whole, be it resolved that the Council of the Town of
Gananoque authorize staff to proceed with the Heritage Designation process for the Blinkbonnie
located at 50 Main Street, as presented in COW Report-ED-2018-02.

DEFERRED — UNANIMOUS

COW-FIN-2018-12 - 2017 Year-End Financial Result
Moved by: Councillor Warren
As recommended by the Committee of the Whole, be it resolved that the Council of the Town of
Gananoque receive the unaudited 2017 Income Statement, as presented in COW Report-FIN-
2018-12.

CARRIED - UNANIMOUS

COW-CD-2018-05 ~ Traffic and Parking By-law Amendment — Pay and Display Machines

Moved by: Councillor Warren

As recommended by the Committee of the Whole, be it resolved that the Council of the Town of
Gananoque pass By-law No. 2018-034, being a By-law to amend By-law No. 2015-070 to regulate
Traffic and Parking by adding reference to the Pay and Display Machines located at the 155 Garden
Street and 79 Pine Street parking lots, as presented in COW Report-CD-2018-05.

i

CARRIED - UNANIMOUS
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COW-CD-2018-06 — Mobile Canteen Licenses 2018 — Taylor and Tincap Berry Farm

Moved by: Councillor Warren

As recommended by the Committee of the Whole, be it resolved that the Council of the Town of
Gananoque approve the following Mobile 2018 Canteen Licenses, subject to all compliance approvals
being submitted prior to opening:

MCL10/18 Scot Taylor & Jody Taylor - Type E—Cold Cart
MCL11/18 Tincap Berry Farm - Type F—Fruit/Vegetable (30 Day)

And further, that MC10/18 (Taylor) obtain a cart that is in keeping with the Mobile Canteen By-law,
as presented in COW Report-CD-2018-06.

CARRIED — UNANIMOUS

12 | DISCUSSION OF ADDITIONAL ITEMS - NONE
13 | Next MEeeTING— April 17, 2018

14 | QuUESTIONS FROM THE MIEDIA— NONE

15 | ADJOURNMENT

Moved by: Councillor Warren
Be it resolved that the Committee of the Whole hereby adjourn the April 3, 2018 meeting at 7:51
PM.

CARRIED - UNANIMOUS

ll ALY ~\»\&L "\,Z//‘Z/MLZZL

Dwayne Fletcher Chair Penny Igélly, dlerl//
: v
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G 4 NANOQUE

CoW Report — ED-2018-02

CoW Date: April 3,2018 0 IN CAMERA
Subject: Proposed Heritage Designation — Blinkbonnie — 50 Main Street

Author: Shellee Fournier, CAO OPEN COUNCIL
RECOMMENDATION:

AS RECOMMENDED BY THE COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT THE COUNCIL OF
THE TOWN OF GANANOQUE AUTHORIZE STAFF TO PROCEED WITH THE HERITAGE DESIGNATION
PROCESS FOR THE BLINKBONNIE LOCATED AT 50 MAIN STREET, AS PRESENTED IN COW REPORT
ED-2018-02.

STRATEGIC PLAN COMMENTS:
Sector 4: Quality of Life - Strategic Initiative #2 — To ensure the heritage of our community is protected.

BACKGROUND:

The Town of Gananoque has 18 heritage designated properties and eight non-designated sites listed
on the register. The Blinkbonnie is on the non-designated list. The Heritage Advisory Panel has been
working to designate key properties in the community. The Panel recommends designating the
Blinkbonnie at 50 Main Street, Gananoque, for historical, architectural, and environmental reasons, as
surmised in the Heritage Research Report by Edgar Tumuk, March 10, 2017. (Attached)

At the Heritage Advisory Panel meeting April 15, 2015 the Panel agreed to proceed with the
designation process and the Town hired Edgar Tumak to prepare the Heritage Designation Report.
Upon review of the report on April 11, 2017, the Heritage Advisory Panel passed the following motion.

Morion No. 2017-08 Moved by: Derryl Wood, Seconded by: Linda Dunford
Be it resolved that the Heritage Advisory Panel accept the Blinkbonnie Report as presented.
CARRIED

On March 14, 2018, the Heritage Advisory Panel discussed the fact that the property seems to
be taken off the market. The listing can no longer be found on MLS and the signs have been
removed indicating that the property is no longer for sale. To that end, discussing a proposed
designation with new property owners is now not likely to happen.

The Heritage Advisory Panel received a letter from the MacDonald Stone Foundation, officially
requesting that Blinkbonnie become a designated Heritage Site of Gananoque, Ontario. The
letter is attached under correspondence. The Committee supports this request.
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Report To Council April 3, 2018
ED-2018-02

MoTion No. 2018-02 Moved by: J. Girling Seconded by: L. Dunford
Be it resolved that the Heritage Committee receive and support the letter of request from
the MacDonald Stone Foundation to put forward an intent to designate the Blinkbonnie
and that they seek Council support to approach the current owner for his consent.

CARRIED

INFORMATION/DISCUSSION

Below is the outline of the designation process as per the Ontario Heritage Act, Section 29. If Council
passes a motion to proceed with the designation there will be a 30 day period where objections can
be filed. Baring no objections, a by-law may be passed to designate the property.

Designation by Municipal By-law:

Step 1: Identify Property - Complete
Step 2: Research and Evaluate - Complete
e Designation Report - Complete
e Support from the Heritage Committee - Complete
e Council Motion to proceed with designation - Pending
Step 3: Serving Notice and Intention to Designate (If Council passes a motion to proceed)
e The property owner and the Ontario Heritage Trust must be notified
e Must publish a Notice of Intention to Designate in the local newspaper
e If no objections are filed with the municipality within 30 days after the date of the
publication of notice in the paper, Council can proceed to pass a by-law to designate
the property
e [fthere are objections filed in the 30-day period, they are referred to the Conservation
Review Board (CRB) for a Hearing. The CRB then makes a recommendation to Council
however Council is not bound to follow the recommendations
Step 4: Passing and Registering the Designation By-law
Step 5: Listing the property on the municipal register
Step 6: Listing the property on the provincial register

Once the property is designated, any proposed alterations related to heritage elements in the by-law
will require a Heritage Application that will be reviewed by the Heritage Advisory Panel. The Panel will
make a recommendation to Council who holds the final decision.

APPLICABLE POLICY/LEGISLATION:

Ontario Heritage Act, Section 29, Designation by Municipal By-law

29. (1) The council of a municipality may, by by-law, designate a property within the
municipality to be of cultural heritage value or interest if,
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Report To Council April 3, 2018
ED-2018-02

(a) where criteria for determining whether property is of cultural heritage value or
interest have been prescribed by regulation, the property meets the prescribed criteria;
and

(b) the designation is made in accordance with the process set out in this section. 2005,
c.6,s.17 (1).

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS:
The associated costs with the designation process are for newspaper advertising and legal fees to
register to the property on title. If approved, these fees will be covered under the Heritage budget.

CONSULTATIONS:

Edgar Tumuk, Heritage Consultant

Heritage Advisory Panel

Property Owner —to be consulted as the first step.

ATTACHMENTS:
Heritage Designation Report, Blinkbonnie, 50 Main Street, Gananoque, Ontario, by Edgar Tumuk

Melanie Kirkby, Treasurer
Certifies that unless otherwise provided for in this report the funds are contained within the approved Budgets and
that the financial transactions are in compliance with Council’s own policies and guidelines and the Municipal Act and

APPROVAL

regulations.

Shellee Fournier, CAO
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HERITAGE RESEARCH REPORT
BLINKBONNIE, 50 MAIN STREET, GANANOQUE, ONTARIO
Author: Edgar Tumak, 10 March 2017

REASON FOR POSSIBLE DESIGNATION

Blinkbonnie (Gaelic for beautiful view) traces its core to 1843 when William Stone Macdonald
rebuilt an earlier family residence of 1812. The 1843 structure was greatly remodeled and
expanded in 1902-07, by his son Charles Macdonald, a significant Canadian and U.S. civil
engineer, to the designs of Frank T. Lent—one of Gananoque’s most significant architects. Lent
was an architect of note in Ontario, the U.S., and particularly for Gananoque. The construction
was effected by the Mitchell and Wilson, Gananoque’s most venerable construction firm. The
grand, Colonial Revival style building, expresses the prominence of the McDonald/Macdonald
clan (various spellings originated with the family)—who married into, and became the heirs, of
the town’s founder Joel Stone. The structure as recast in the early 20"-century, was greatly
defined by numerous porches and verandahs, including the entrance porte-cochere (mostly
removed by 2013). Throughout the 19" century, until the early 1920s, the property served as a
family residence. In 1923 it became a prestigious guest house/hotel under the proprietor
Rebecca Edwards, a school teacher, whose family was also of note in Gananoque in the furniture
industry. Under her, the building catered to the Thousand Islands tourism industry that became
increasingly prominent for the economy of Gananoque starting in the late-19" century and
ongoing. Many notables stayed at Blinkbonnie during her control. Since the 1920s, Blinkbonnie
has been an iconic expression of this local and regional, tourism and hospitality economy.
Blinkbonnie is considered of heritage interest for historical, architectural and environmental
reasons.

Figure 1: Blinkbonnie, Main Street elevation, viewed from the northeast with the Clarion Inn in the foreground
(Gananoque 2000, Doug Bickerton, 2000).

HISTORY

Trends

Blinkbonnie essentially

dates from 1902-07 (as

altered and enlarged to the

designs of architect Frank

T. Lent),1 although the

. original component of the

§ structure dates from 1843

i \hich replaced an 1812

=€ building that burned in

e = 1826. Throughout the 19'"
S R0 w4 century, and up until the

1 Margaret Anne Brilé, “From A Home In The Suburbs To A Retreat In The Wilderness: The Domestic
Architecture of Frank T. Lent,” Master of Arts Thesis submitted to the Department of Art, Queen’s University,
Kingston, Ontario, Canada, October 2012; Mitchell and Wilson and Charles Macdonald, contract, September 2,
1902, Mitchell and Wilson Limited fonds, Queen’s University Archives, Kingston, Ont.; email communication with
Judith McLaughlin, descendent of the family, 12 January 2017.





1920s, it was associated with the McDonald/Macdonald clan,2 who were leading citizens in
Gananoque from the early 19" century starting with Charles McDonald, who arrived in 1810
(subsequently informally referred to as Charles I, versus his grandson, Charles Macdonald 11
who created the current form of Blinkbonnie).

Charles (1) soon developed business connections with Joel Stone, the town's Loyalist founder
(1789), and married Stone's only heir, Mary. With advantageous marriages, property holdings
and business success facilitated by the relocation to Gananoque of additional McDonald family,
the clan played a leading role in the economy and society of Gananoque throughout the 19" and
early-20™ centuries.

Figures 2-3: Blinkbonnie, Main Street Street elevation, viewed from the southeast, ca. 1935 (John Nalon, The Story
of Gananoque: prepared for the Gananogque Museum Board, second printing, 1985); and Blinkbonnie viewed from
the west/Market Street, postmark 1910 (Douglas Rombough postcard collection Queen’s University Archives).

In 1923 Rebecca Edwards
purchased the building and
turned it into a
guesthouse/hotel, thereby

. establishing another

. association with the structure.

. It became an iconic part of the
ellte Gananoque and Thousand
W m Islands tourism and cottage
~ economy.
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Through much of the 19™
century, the McDonald/Macdonald family not
only exploited their control and ownership of
land, property and water rights, but were
involved with numerous business ventures.3
They were village-boosters, and even used
their faith to improve civic property values
through their extensive support of St.
Andrew’s Presbyterian Church, 175 Stone
Street South (started 1851-55 with significant
additions throughout the remainder of the 19"
century). In mid-19" century Ontario the
erection a permanent, preferably stone church,
greatly improved property values in a
neighbourhood. The clan also provided land
for the Methodist (now United) Church on

2 McDonald and Macdonald will be used somewhat interchangeably in this report, because the first of the family
to come to Gananoque, Charles, spelled his name McDonald, whereas his son, William Stone (and later owner of
Blinkbonnie), modified the spelling to Macdonald, and subsequent scions of this line maintained the spelling, while
the other branches of the family continued with McDonald.

3 Donald H. Akeson, The Irish in Ontario: a study in rural history, chapter 6, “Gananoque 1849-71,” (McGill -
Queen’s University Press, 1984 and 1999), p. 287, 289 and 296.





Stone Street South, as the patriarch, Stone, transferred from the Anglican to Methodist church in
recognition of his second wife’s strongly held faith.

Figure 4 (below): St. Andrew’s Presbyterian Church, Gananoque,
view of the west/front elevation (photo E. Tumak, May. 2015).

The town experienced significant growth under the
influence of the McDonalds/Macdonalds, in its
economy, population and industrial diversification.
According to the 1851 census, Gananoque had a
population of 768 in 1849, the settlement was
incorporated as a village in 1863, and by 1871 the
population was 2020. When Gananogue was
incorporated as a town, 1 January 1890, the population
was 3519.4

The residences of the McDonald/Macdonald clan
reflect this growth and include Gananoque Town

Hall—constructed for John (brother of Charles I) and
~ Henrietta Maria (née Mallory, step granddaughter of

Joel Stone) McDonald in 1831 and given to the Town
in 1911 for use as Town Hall (Fig. 7), and the
ostentatious 1872 residence of Samuel McCammon—
who married a McDonald (Fig. 8, at 279 King St. W.,
now the Victoria Rose Inn, and illustrating the
frontispiece of The Irish in Ontario, D. Akeson).

i
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Figure 5: William Stone Macdonald) residence of
1843, Main Street elevation, photographed ca. 1880s
(Douglas Rombough postcard collection Queen’s

4 Akeson, The Irish in Ontario, p. 287, 289 and 296.





Figures 6-7: left, John McDonald residence (constructed 1831), since 1911 Gananoque Town Hall, 30 King St. E.,
viewed from the southwest (photo E. Tumak, 2008); and right, Residence of Samuel McCammon, constructed 1872,
279 King St. W., Gananoque, viewed from the northwest (photo, E. Tumak, Jan., 2008).

In its later, grander form, Blinkbonnie illustrates the domestic architecture of Gananoque’s
wealthy at a highpoint in the industrial mechanisation and growth of the municipality.s

The transition of Blinkbonnie into a guesthouse/hotel reflects the development of Gananoque as
a tourist and cottage destination because of its advantageous position vis-a-vis the scenic
Thousand Islands—often considered a vacation paradise.

Straddling the U.S.-Canada border the islands on the American side were developed first but, by
the late-19™" century, Gananoque also had become popular for tourism, including boating,
hunting and sport fishing. George M. Pullman, of sleeping car fame, particularly contributed to
this interest, when in 1873 he invited President Grant to his luxurious compound on Pullman
Island, which remained a showplace for many years even prior to its completion in 1888 (it was
razed for tax considerations by his descendants in the mid-20" century). He knew that with a
Presidential visit and the entourage of reporters from papers of numerous major U.S. cities, this
would advertise the islands as no other forum could, and hence improve his business interests in
the area. After seeing the opulence of Pullman’s island, the articles in newspapers did
materialise and quickly lead to plans for hotels to accommodate the influx of people to the area.
Railroads built sidings to Clayton and Cape Vincent on the U.S. side and as many as twenty
trains a day would come and go at the village stations.s

Reliable ferry services connecting the U.S. side with Gananoque developed with the rising
popularity of the islands, and in 1883 Gananoque finally got a spur line from the then main east-
west rail line, the Grand Trunk Railway, four miles north. It was called the Thousand Islands

5 Edgar Tumak, Heritage Designation Report, 95 King Street West, Gananoque, 2008.

6 Susan W. Smith, “A History of Recreation in the 1000 Islands,” manuscript report (Parks Canada, 1976),
unpaginated in online format, http://www.oliverkilian.com/ecology/thousand-islands/island-
insights/recreation/recreation.html, copyright 2001-2017, Oliver K. Reichl.
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Railway and, although principally created to facilitate transportation for industry, it greatly
facilitated passenger travel, thereby benefitting tourism. The line was extended to the east side
of the Gananoque River via the Gananoque Swing Bridge of 18937 in a desperate, but
unsuccessful, municipal attempt to keep the Gananoque Carriage Company from relocating to
Brockville. With the empty carriage company building at the scenic south end of the Gananoque
River, at its confluence with the St. Lawrence, the structure was remodelled as the Gananoque
Inn and opened by the end of the 1890s. Passengers could be transported directly to its doors
across the Swing Bridge, at least until 1913, when the tracks were removed because of the
limited traffic. The remainder of the Thousand Islands Railway line was acquired by the CNR
and remained in use until 1965. In addition to the Gananoque Inn, there were popular Canadian
guest houses near Gananoque on Hay Island, Tremont Park Island, and Float Island—a large
hotel capable of accommodating 100 guests (originally built as a private boys' school, it was
renovated in the early 1900s to a hotel).

Summer camps, which were first established in the 1870s on the U.S. side, also promoted the
Thousands Islands as a summer retreat. Most campgrounds were begun by religious
organizations. Thousands of people came from all parts of Canada and the United States to
enjoy a family holiday under the direction of their religious leaders. Thousand Island Park on
the upper end of Wellesley Island was founded by the Methodist Church in 1875. Also on
Wellesley Island was the Presbyterian Camp, called Westminster Park. The Methodist
International Camp Ground, one mile below Morristown, New York, also catered to Canadians
and Americans. The first established camp on the Canadian side was on a high bluff in
Elizabethtown, called the St. Lawrence Central Camp Ground. The land was purchased in 1875
and developed by the Methodist Episcopal Church.

Cottaging and tourism on the Canadian side developed in the 1870s when, in 1873, the
Department of Indian Affairs started selling islands that were surrendered earlier in 1856 by the
Alnwick Band of the Mississauga Indians. Part of the delay stemmed from contending with
resistance from squatters and farmers who had settled on the islands and claimed the property for
their own, as well as residents along the shores of the St. Lawrence River, who felt the islands
opposite the mainland were common property. Sales remained limited, but in 1891, the
Department of Indian Affairs undertook an extensive re-examination and evaluation of the
islands. Following a plan that included hundreds of islands and islets, increased marketing and
sale of islands commenced that year.

However, conditions of sale and required improvements were considered too onerous and sales
remained limited. In 1894, the Canadian government made an effort to sell the islands by
publishing a booklet entitled 1000 Islands for Sale.” The booklet listed a description of each
island, valuations and the terms of sale. These terms of sale excluded any minimum
improvement price. From this marketing push, architect Lent, of Blinkbonnie, purchased small
islands in 1901 and built his own vacation property on two of them—La Vignette Islands also
known as The Sisters).

7 Gananoque Reporter, 23 July, 8 Oct., and 31 Dec. 1892, and 1 July 1893; and Privy Council Minute 2865, 31
Oct., 1893, in Douglas N.W. Smith, By Rail, Road and Water to Gananoque (Ottawa: Trackside Canada, 1995), p
39-41.





Sales of crown islands pretty much stopped, when 21 islands provided the nucleus of the St.
Lawrence Islands National Park, in 1904—the oldest of the national parks east of the Rockies.
However, this park also supported tourism, as did 30 New York state parks managed as part of
the New York State Office of Parks, Recreation and Historic Preservation's Thousand Islands
Region, including many that are located on river islands or along the New York shore. Many of
these river parks were established in the late 19th and early 20th century as part of the St.
Lawrence Reservation, and were among New York's earliest land acquisitions for the purpose of
preservation and recreational development. Among the larger parks is Wellesley Island State
Park, which includes the largest camping complex in the region.s

The iconic status of Blinkbonnie to the Gananoque and Thousand Islands hospitality industry
developed because of the stately form of the former residence and because of the efforts of the
new owner and proprietor, Rebecca Edwards. She attracted well-heeled visitors to the
guesthouse who sought a luxury visit to the Thousand Islands, without the commitment of a
cottage. Under Edwards, Blinkbonnie was known for the lavish appearance of the main
building, its grounds, and its outbuildings. In addition, there were all the requisite adornments of
fine furniture in the bedrooms, as well as fine silverware and china in the dining room.

Figures 8-9:Postcard of Blinkbonnie, viewed from the southwest, ca. 1930s, showing the porch on the left prior to
its conversion to a dining room (Douglas Rombough postcard collection Queen’s University Archives); and
postcard of Macdonald Room, Blinkbonnie, ca. 1930s (Queen’s University Archives)

8  https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Thousand_Islands; S. Smith, “A History of Recreation in the 1000 Islands;” Brdlé,
“From A Home In The Suburbs To A Retreat In The Wilderness, p xiv; and D. Smith, By Rail, Road and Water to
Gananoque, p 26-29 and 62-69.
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Figures 10-11:Postcard of Joel Stone Room, Blinkbonnie, ca. 1930s (Queen’s University Archives); and postcard of
Porch Dining Room, Blinkbonnie, ca. 1950s, on the west side of the building, with a view to the St. Lawrence
(Douglas Rombough postcard collection Queen’s University Archives).

R. Edwards provided additional amenities, such as a yacht club in 1924, which had been built in
1904, to the design of architect Lent—an avid yachtsman, who appears to have commissioned
the structure before it was transferred to the club.o It was known for its formality and included a
dance hall (a customary combination at the time). It was sold in 1947 to the Gananoque Boat
Line as a workshop. Adjacent to the building is a boat slip, and the former Town Waterworks
and Pump House (110 Kate Street, designated 2009).10

9  Gananoque Reporter, 1 Nov. 1902, and 2 April, 23 July 23, 10 Sept. 1904.

10 Edgar Tumak, Heritage Designation Report, Gananoque Waterworks Pump House, 110 Kate Street,
Gananoque, 2009.





Figure 12: Postcard of
Blinkbonnie Boathouse (former
Gananoque Yacht Club

«  House),with the Town
Waterworks and Pump House to
the left, ca. late 1930s ( Douglas
8 Rombough postcard collection
Queen’s University Archives).

Promotion of Blinkbonnie
as a guest house/hotel was
also facilitated by picture
postcards, either black-and-
white or hand-coloured, which depicted every aspect of the area: boat tours, hotels, inns, large
beautiful homes, and the islands themselves. Well-known photographers included William
Notman of Montreal, A.C. Mcintyre of Alexandria Bay and Alex Murray of Murray and Sons,
Brockville. R. Edwards skilfully marketed Blinkbonnie through postcards with one text
commentary stating: “Different — Yet Modern ... 50 yards from the King's Highway No. 2, just
south of the west end of bridge, on the road to the U.S.A. Ferry. Meals—delicious and
satisfactory—served at all hours in the spacious porch dining room overlooking the gardens and
river—a la carte or table d’héte ... Delightful rooms, with baths and running water.” Another
postcard from the 1950s featuring the Blinkbonnie, shows actors Joan Crawford and Jim Craig at
the pool.11

Prohibition of alcohol at various times in the U.S. and Canada, also proved a boon to tourism on
respective sides of the border, at various times. Few places could compare with the
circumstances the islands offered to the circumvent legislation. In Ontario prohibition was in
effect from 1916-27, whereas federally in the U.S. (and New York State) it was from 1920-33.

Thousand Islands tourism was further facilitated by promotional literature, such as the 1937, The
Thousand Islands of the St. Lawrence River, (by Capt. Henry S. Johnston) who wrote
descriptions of the scenery and historical quotations of events and reminiscences with which they
are associated. He even included a copy of Caleb Lyon's poem "The Thousand Islands"—a
poem has been used extensively to describe the Thousand Islands.

Improved transportation infrastructure facilitated tourism such as the Thousand Islands
International Bridge (or vy Lea Bridge) that opened in 1938, crossing the St. Lawrence at Hill
and Wellesley islands (with five separate bridges of four different construction types), linking
Ontario and New York State highways year round. The earlier ferry service, by contrast, was
seasonal and took significantly longer. The Thousand Islands Bridge Authority promoted
interest in the bridge and surrounding area, and continues to do so. It was instrumental in
distributing much-needed publicity for the region after the First World War when the earlier era
of the social elite had waned somewhat. With a mandate to for the 1000 Islands Region as a
family tourist destination it promoted the services, attractions, and recreational opportunities of
the region as well as encouraging the use of the Thousand Islands Bridge System as a major

11 S. Smith, “A History of Recreation in the 1000 Islands;” a collection of such images prepared about the
Blinkbonnie by Doug Rombough, “The Blinkbonnie Hotel, Gananoque, Ontario” 2013.





vehicular linkage between the two nations. The Authority continues to promote the area, and in
1977 assumed control of Boldt Castle and Heart Island, and commenced the consolidation and
completion of the long-neglected structure. However, even as Blinkbonnie emerged as a
prominent guest house in the 1920s, island castles contributed immensely to the tourism
economy of the Thousand Islands and Gananoque.12 Boat travel was further facilitated by the
opening of the St. Lawrence Seaway system in 1959, and there are currently more boat slips in
Gananoque (public and private) than in Kingston (140 vs. 92).13

The significance of tourism for Gananoque in the last 75 years is underscored by numerous
Canadian and U.S. public and private organisations combining efforts as part of the Tourism
Marketing Initiative (TIMP). Through this, municipalities have been helped with assessing and
developing their tourism product, by the Ontario Ministry of Tourism which established the
Premier-ranked Tourist Destinations Framework (PRTDF). It assists jurisdictions in assessing
their tourist assets, attractions and amenities and allows them to identify opportunities in tourism
development. The Ministry provides financial assistance to regions that undertake the PRTDF
process. Gananoque is part of this process and statistics note accommodation for about 750 in
hotels, guest houses, B&Bs, etc., and 470 for RV or camp sites. Gananoque has also responded
to the more recent trend that cultural tourism increases at 15 %/year, and that 37% of all
international tourism includes: performing arts (theatre, dance, music); art galleries and schools,
gardens and crafts; museums, historic sites, villages and reconstructions; festivals and events;
local cuisine; and Aboriginal culture. 14

Figures 13-14: Beyond the top end of the image is the head race diverging from the Gananoque River near the
junction of Mill Street (Underwriter’s Survey Bureau: Insurance Plan of Gananoque, plan dated 1947, sheet/map 4);
below, former Skinner Residence, 95 King Street West, Gananoque, Ontario, front (north/King St. elevation),
constructed 1905, architect F.T. Lent, builder Mitchell and Wilson. (Photo: Sleepy Hollow Bed & Breakfast
website, 2008).

12 S. Smith, “A History of Recreation in the 1000 Islands;” and D. Smith, By Rail, Road and Water to Gananoque.
13 Premier-ranked Tourist Destination Framework, 1000 Islands - St. Lawrence Seaway Regional Report,
February 2008, p 13.

14 Premier-ranked Tourist Destination Framework, p 3, 6, 11, 20 and 22.





Blinkbonnie was
not the only
grand residence
converted to a
guest house (also
called hotels and
tourist homes) in
the early 20"
century. By 1947
in the same
stretch of Main,
Market and King
streets there were
four additional
commaodious
residences
converted to
tourist
accommodation:
the International Hotel (intersection of Main, Mill
and King West), the Golden Apple Tourist Home
(east corner of King and Market), Landon Tourist
Home (west corner of King and Market), and Currie
Manor Tourist Home (95 King West at Church)—all
these buildings remain standing.15s The latter was
constructed in 1905 as the mansion of prominent
Gananoque manufacturer and provincial politician,
Frederick J. Skinner. It now serves as Sleepy Hollow
B&B and received exterior and interior designation
in 2008.16

In the year Edwards died, in 1957, Blinkbonnie was
sold, along with its various outbuildings. The
building went through a succession of owners and
less than prestigious uses, but eventually in 1983

shared the site with a new facility known as the Clarion Inn. Accordingly, for almost a century
Blinkbonnie has catered to Gananoque's tourism industry, which has been augmented to include
the Thousand Islands Playhouse and the Thousand Islands OLG Casino. Only in recent years
has Blinkbonnie again suffered notable neglect, including removal of all porches (2013).

Events
No specific events of note are yet known to be associated with Blinkbonnie, Gananoque, other
than brief visits of notable persons.

15
16

Underwriter’s Survey Bureau: Insurance Plan of Gananoque, plan dated 1947, sheet/map 4.

Tumak, 95 King Street West, Gananoque.





Persons/Institutions

The name Blinkbonnie, reflects the McDonald’s/Macdonald’s Scottish background, and means
beautiful view. William Stone Macdonald (1812-1902, married Isabella Hall 1836). He was the
eldest son of Charles (1), and assumed control of his father’s and uncle’s business holdings in
1851. In 1843, he rebuilt on the site of the house his father built, and lived there until his death.
The house was passed to William’s son, Charles (11), who was born in the house, and who
transformed it into a much grander residence when he semi-retired to Gananogue at the
beginning of the 20" century. In 1912 Charles (I1) transferred the property to his son, William
Stone (1862-1920, referred to here as W. S. 1), with the understanding that Charles (11) could
stay there for life. Unfortunately, W. S. Il died suddenly in 1923, without a will, and
Blinkbonnie and its outbuildings were sold to settle the estate. When Rebecca Edwards bought
Blinkbonnie in 1923 as a guesthouse she accommodated octogenarian Charles (1) in his former
family home, while it functioned as a guesthouse. Charles (I1) died at Blinkbonnie in 1928 at 91.

While most of the McDonalds/Macdonalds connected with Gananoque were primarily involved
with mercantile and other business activities, as well as public life, Charles (1) became a civil
engineer of note, specialising in bridge building. He was involved with design and construction
of bridges in the U.S., Canada, South Africa and Australia. During much of his working life he
resided in the U.S., where he was lauded for his activities, and eventually served as President of
the American Society of Civil Engineers, 1908-09, an organisation of which he had been a
member since 1869. Additionally, he was a member of the Canadian Society of Civil
Engineers—serving as Vice-president in 1896, and the Institute of Mining Engineers, as well as a
trustee of his alma mater, the Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute. He had his portrait painted by
Robert Harris, one of the most prominent Canadian portrait artists of the 19" century.17

Charles was schooled in Gananoque, and later a Preparatory School of what was then Queen’s
College—Ilater University, Kingston (in 1894 he was honoured by Queen’s with an honorary
degree of Doctorate of Law). At the age of 15 in 1852-53 he worked for one of Canada’s
premier engineers, Samuel Keefer, where he served on a survey team of the Grand Trunk
Railway between Kingston and Brockville, then being built by another Gananoquean, Charles
Legge (a cousin through his great aunt, sister of W.S (I) Macdonald). Desiring to pursue the
profession of civil engineering, in 1854 Charles enrolled in the Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute
at Troy, New York, which was then the only institution of its kind in the U.S. (and North
America), and graduated in 1857. On graduation he returned to the Grand Trunk and assumed
the position of assistant engineer of the Philadelphia and Reading Railroad.

He was engaged in the construction of an extension of the Grand Trunk Railway from Port
Huron to Detroit, Michigan. He returned to Gananoque, but found little demand for his services
in Canada, and in 1863 moved to the U.S., finding employment with the Engineering Corps of

17 Biographical Dictionary of Canadian Engineers, ed., Rod Millard, http://history.uwo.ca/cdneng/; Wm. Hawke,
Historic Gananoque (Belleville: Mika Publishing, 1974), p 71-72, from The Transactions of the American Society of
Civil Engineering, 1930; and Frank Griggs, ‘Charles Macdonald: Great Achievements: Notable Structural
Engineers’, Structure Magazine, Jan., 2009, p. 45-46; Obit., Charles Macdonald I, Scarsdale Inquirer, No. 34, 13
July 1928.





the Reading Railroad, and lived in Pottstown, Pennsylvania. With the start of the American Civil
War, he joined the Pennsylvania Volunteers, was taken prisoner, but freed after the Battle of
Gettysburg. When the war was over in 1865, he devoted much time to the study of iron bridge
construction, a relatively new concept at that time. He was entrusted with the construction of
bridges for the Lackawanna Railroad, and in 1869 opened an office in New York City. He was
appointed a trustee for the construction of the Brooklyn Bridge (Col. W.A. Roebling, Chief
Engineer), which opened in 1883.

Charles was a founder in the Union Bridge Company at its organisation in 1884 (acknowledged
as the chief funding partner and leader of the team), which went on to build such prominent
bridges as the 1889 Poughkeepsie Bridge over the Hudson River (then the world’s longest
bridge), the Merchant’s Bridge over the Mississippi at St. Louis, the Sixth Street Bridge in
Pittsburgh, and the span over the Ohio River at Cairo. In 1887-89 he was the superintending
engineer of the Hawkesburg Bridge in New South Wales, Australia, after his company’s plans
were accepted after a world-wide competition.

In 1900 Charles figured prominently in the organisation of the American Bridge Company,
which was a consolidation of the Union Bridge Company and other large bridge-building firms.
He became Vice-president of the new company and remained in that position until it was
absorbed by the United States Steel Corporation in 1902. He retired from the firm at this time,
but remained active in the field, and was frequently engaged as a consultant, notably in 1910 as
an expert commissioner following the partial collapse and disastrous loss of life of the massive
cantilever bridge over the St. Lawrence at Quebec City in 1907—a project that after two partial
collapses would ultimately take from 1900-17 to complete. The report is considered a classic of
structural engineering and benefitted bridge design around the world. When Charles died he was
considered by both his local and professional press as one of the greatest bridge builders in North
America and one of the greatest citizens of Gananoque.1s

He married Sarah Louise Willard of Troy NY in 1861, and three children lived to adulthood:
William Stone (I1) and Mrs. J.R. Serson and Mrs. W.G. Triest. His wife died in 1912, his son in
1923, Mrs. Serson in 1943, and Mrs. Triest in 1953.

Rebecca Edwards, as the subsequent owner and hotel proprietor of Blinkbonnie, was also
connected with a prominent Gananoque family, as the sister of William Edwards who owned a
successful furniture store and undertaking business (the two activities were often connected at
the time as coffins needed detailed cabinetry).19 However, she also made a name for herself first
as a school teacher. Before retiring from teaching she operated Blinkbonnie a hotel and, after
teaching she maintained the business until shortly before she died at 82 in September 1957. In
her obituary it was stated “She made the hotel one of the most unique in Ontario.”

Edwards was born, educated, and lived most of her life in Gananoque, except for brief periods.
She started her teaching career at the age of 17 and retired in 1933 after 41 years. Her last

18 The Canadian Encyclopedia, 2" ed., q.v. “Bridges;” Wm. Hawke, Historic Gananoque (Belleville: Mika
Publishing, 1974), p 71-72, from The Transactions of the American Society of Civil Engineering, 1930; and Frank
Griggs, ‘Charles Macdonald: Great Achievements: Notable Structural Engineers’, Structure Magazine, Jan., 2009,
p. 45-46.

19 Gananoque Reporter, Thurs., 19 Sept. 1957, p. 6.





teaching appointment was in Kingston. She was a charter member of the King’s Daughters, and
an honorary member of the Beta Sigma Phi sorority. She attended Christ Church, Gananoque,
and in her younger years was active in church and community affairs. She never married and
sold the property to Steven Amery of Kingston, after being in failing health for some months.

ARCHITECTURE

Design
Blinkbonnie is a grand, picturesque design, incorporating classical balance of its various

components, within an asymmetrical massing. The design masterfully incorporates an earlier
structure, and with its greater height took advantage of a placement of the views of both the St.
Lawrence and the Gananoque rivers (hence the Gaelic name meaning beautiful view). With a
footprint that steps forward to the Main Street, it has a notable presence—particularly
commanding when seen from the southeast. The former porches, whether the large entrance
porte-cochere or commodious side and rear verandas, were an essential component of the design,
and the building looks forlorn in its current state without them. Further animation of the early
20"-century structure, that are also gone, include pointy finials on all the dormer windows and
the cupola, as well numerous chimneys with decorative brickwork at the caps.

Figure 15: Postcard of the west view
from the Blinkbonnie, ca. 1930s,
looking towards the St. Lawrence
River. The building in the upper right
(not extant) at one time served as an
annex for the main hotel/guest house
(Douglas Rombough postcard
collection Queen’s University
Archives).

When Blinkbonnie was
remodelled by Charles (1)
Macdonald, it was intended to
appear suitable for a person
who had worked most of his
life in the prosperous realm of upper American engineering circles. In addition to elaborate
porches (later modified or augmented for the purposes of the guest house trade), and the
dominating fourth-level rooftop cupola/widow’s walk, there were ornaments of five fireplaces,
elaborate wood trim and floors, chandeliers, 10 bedrooms and five baths—the latter being quite
an exceptional number at the beginning of the 20" century.

Style
Blinkbonnie is an excellent example of the Colonial Revival Style, as espoused by architect Lent.

The style rose to popularity after the U.S Centennial International Exposition in Philadelphia in
1876, and its favour greatly increased with the World Columbian Exposition in Chicago in 1892,
It has remained a popular traditional residential design in the U.S. and Canada since. The bones,
or the core structure, of 1843, were a vernacular version of British late Georgian, which shared
similarities with motifs of the American Colonial Revival, because of the classical origins of
both styles. However, details of the Colonial Revival style could range quite widely, and cross





over into the Queen Anne Revival Style, as is the case with 95 King St. W., which has numerous
classical references with columns and pilasters, low relief garlands and panels (of pressed metal),
urn-topped rail posts, and sash windows, yet which has an irregularity more in keeping with
Queen Anne Revival Style massing.

With the Colonial Revival Style, a wide selection of building materials could be employed,
sometimes all on the same building—wood siding of clapboard or shingles, stucco, brick, or
stone. Blinkbonnie of 1902 had a rough-cast parge, painted yellow (one of Lent’s favourite
colours) that masterfully united the many different structural components. This achieved an
underlying discipline associated with the classical/formal aesthetic of the Colonial Revival Style.
Detailing associated with the Colonial Revival Style included: window shutters, low relief
garlands on the window lintels, porch columns of wood with restrained capitals, and regularly
placed urn-topped rail posts featured on the upper level of every porch.

In Lent’s second book Sensible Suburban Residences, he delves further into his concept of the
Colonial Revival style and features. He praises “the charming and quaint grace of our fine old
[American] colonial style of country houses which makes them so sought after by those
interested in modern suburban residences.” He expresses his admiration of the early settlers for
their ability “to build sensible, useful and picturesque houses — houses built to stay; fit to live in
comfortably and fit to look at pleasurably.” He believes that these principles employed in earlier
architectural design can be applied to the modern suburban home. Architecture was not alone in
its interest in the colonial period for inspiration, and the movement included other forms of
cultural expression such as music, art and landscape design. 2o

The Colonial Revival was not based on a single precedent, but looked to the various styles that
characterized the early settlers in different regions of the U.S. and Canada. The most popular
revival style, however, was English, with all its various interpretations. Architects looked back
to early Classical Revival Style houses, and the simpler shingled houses in New England,
especially of Cape Cod, Massachusetts, for inspiration. They borrowed features from these
models such as symmetrical facades, decorated doorways often with sidelights and fanlights,
columned porches, dormers, sash windows and other traits both inside and out that linked the
modern designs to the architectural traditions of the past.

Architect/Designer, Builder
Architect

20 Brdlé, “From A Home In The Suburbs To A Retreat In The Wilderness,” p 5, from Frank T. Lent, Sensible
Suburban Architecture: containing Suggestions, Hints, and Practical Ideas, Sketches, Plans, etc., for the Building of
Country Homes (Frank T. Lent, Tremont Building, Boston, 1894).





Frank T. (Franklin Townsend) Lent (1855-1919) was an architect, author and painter. By the
time he greatly re-worked Blinkbonnie, he was well known in Gananoque and the surrounding
area as an architect, particularly for commodious suburban, country, island and seaside
residences. Lent came to Gananoque, ca. 1900, and designed his residence at 120 Market Street
(neighbouring Blinkbonnie at the southwest
corner of the intersection with Clarence). His
views on domestic architecture are well conveyed
in three books he authored, in which he
comments about designing and supervising the
construction of a prodigious number of
residences—apparently a good number being
mail order designs that he did not supervise the
construction. Lent favoured the Colonial Revival
style and in this incorporated classical, Dutch, or
Shingle style influences, as well as his own
interpretations, such as the dramatic cupola of the
new section of Blinkbonnie which harkens to
earlier designs by Lent, such as the Rodgers

, Residence of 1903-04 in the Roosevelt

; Manor community of Cranford, New

= Jersey—a planned commuting suburb of

~~ New York City with which Lent was greatly
involved.21

Figures 16-17: Rodgers Residence, Cranford NJ
ok (Brilé, “From A Home In The Suburbs To A Retreat
- In The Wilderness,” p 31, from Roosevelt Manor
' suburb promotional material); and next page, former
{ Lent Residence, 120 Market Street, Gananoque (photo

E. Tumak 2017).

.........

In the last decade increasing research about
Lent has not only revealed much about his

21 Frank T. Lent: Sound Sense in Suburban Architecture: containing Hints, Suggestions, and Bits of Practical
Information for the Building of Inexpensive Country Houses (Frank T. Lent, Cranford, New Jersey, 1893); Sensible
Suburban Architecture: containing Suggestions, Hints, and Practical Ideas, Sketches, Plans, etc., for the Building of
Country Homes (Frank T. Lent, Tremont Building, Boston, 1894); Summer Homes and Camps: containing
Suggestions, Hints, and Practical ldeas, Sketches, Plans, etc., for the Building of Summer Homes (Frank T. Lent,
Tremont Building, Boston, 1899); Br(lé, “From A Home In The Suburbs To A Retreat In The Wilderness,” Ah,
Wilderness! Resort Architecture in the Thousand Islands, Pierre de la Ruffiniére du Prey, Guest Curator, Dorothy
Farr, Supervising Curator, Exhibition Catalogue, Agnes Etherington Art Centre, Queen’s University, Kingston,
2004, p. 94-97; “F.T Lent Dead at Sterling,” Worchester Telegram & Gazette, December 3, 1919; and obit.,
Gananoque Reporter, December 13, 1919.





oeuvre: that he was the only practising architect in Gananoque in the early 20" century, and that
he may be the most significant architect of Gananoque and its Thousand Islands hinterland.22

Born in Poughkeepsie, New York, Lent graduated from Rutgers University in New Jersey in
1878 with a B.S., and a MS in 1881. This was followed by two years of postgraduate
apprenticeship in the New Jersey-based architectural firm of William A. Potter. Lent described
his first 20-years of architectural practise as focussed in the vicinity of New York City and
Boston, with commissions in a total of nine states—but principally Massachusetts, Maine, New
Jersey, New York (he also practised in Colorado and Nevada where he was living temporarily
for health reasons), as well as Ontario. He became a member of both the American Institute of
Architects and a Fellow of the Royal Canadian Institute of Architects.

In his middle to mature years, Lent became associated
with the cottage country of the Thousand Islands and
Rideau Lakes area (e.g., Rockport). In 1901 he

" advertised himself to be “devoting his entire time to St.
% Lawrence river work as resident architect and
inspector.”23 This geographical transition may have
been prompted by the acrimonious divorce from his
first wife. Despite this, one of his earliest
commissions in Gananoque was the second Rectory

i for Christ Church, 16 Princess Street, (contractors
Mitchell & Wilson).24

Figures 18-19: Above, 16 Princess St., Gananoque, second rectory of Christ Church (photo E. Tumak, 2009); next
page left, 18 Barrie St., Kingston (photo P. Robertson, 2017); and next page right, Gananoque Clock Tower, viewed
from the southwest. (Photo: Edgar Tumak, Jan., 2008).

22 E.g., although American in origin he was not included in earlier standard architect biographical references (e.g.,

Avery Obituary Index of Architects and Artists (Boston); Brdlé, “From A Home In The Suburbs To A Retreat In The

Wilderness.”

23 Biographical information and quote from, Freeman Britton, Souvenir of Gananoque and the Thousand Islands,
privately published by the publisher of the Gananoque Reporter, quoted in Ah, Wilderness! p. 96.

24 Heritage Tour of Elgin, http://www.twprideaulakes.on.ca/elgintour/ ; Gananoque Reporter 1 June 1901, from

Bralé, “From A Home In The Suburbs To A Retreat In The Wilderness,” p 73.
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Additional notable summer and suburban
residences in the Gananoque region by Lent
include: Dr. E.L. Atkinson’s cottage (ca. 1900), Big
White Calf Island, Admiralty Island Group,
Thousand Islands; Frederick J. Skinner Residence,
95 King Street West, Gananoque (1905, designated); the very large vacation property of
Nokomis Lodge, Howe Island (additions and alterations 1903 by Lent, destroyed by fire 1914
and new design by Lent, destroyed by fire 2003); 18 Barrie Street (at the corner of King St. W.),
Kingston, which was substantially remodelled by Lent in 1905—and as masterfully as
Blinkbonnie (originally constructed in 1830, later renovated for Queen’s University, Faculty of
Medicine).2s

Institutional buildings, however, were very much part of his oeuvre as demonstrated by the 1903
Gananoque Clock Tower, Stone Street South—funded by Charles (11) Macdonald and built in
memory of his father, William Stone Macdonald, who died in 1902;26 and by St. Paul’s Anglican
Church, Elgin (north of Gananoque, 1903-05)—a Gothic Revival design of squat proportions
with intricate interior woodwork by James Stanton.27

In addition to its aesthetic qualities, the Colonial Revival Style could, as Lent interpreted, turn its
attention to practical matters, and discuss the ideas of shelter and comfort, and the importance of
combining utility and beauty in a thoughtful and meaningful way. Lent addressed the idea of
convenience and the importance of the plan of the house to the daily lives of the occupants in the
second section of his book Sound Sense in Suburban Architecture. He goes through a floor plan
room by room beginning with the hall, providing guidance on the placement, floor plan design
with advice regarding built-in and non-built-in elements. He reminds the reader that the hall

25 Brdlé, “From A Home In The Suburbs To A Retreat In The Wilderness.”

26 Commissioned by Charles Macdonald of Gananoque, the tower was part of the Fire House complex with the
portion below the clock level serving as the hose drying chamber—the chimes could also ring to a code that
indicated what area of town where a fire or emergency had been noted. See, Gananoque Historical Society
Newsletter, no. 4, Feb. 1986, p. 39; Gananoque Reporter, July 18, 1903; and Gananoque Clock Tower, heritage
plaque.

27 Heritage Tour of Elgin, http://www.twprideaulakes.on.ca/elgintour/ ; Gananoque Reporter occurred on
Saturday June 1, 1901.
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gives the first impression to a visitor, and to consider design elements carefully. Lent advises on
colour (he promoted yellow on both the interior and exterior), and even materials for flooring,
furnishings, rugs, closets, and recommends the inclusion of stained glass windows in the hall.

Lent was precise in his instructions and promoted commaodious sliding glass doors (sliding out of
sight when opened), providing morning sun in the dining room, and well-furnished kitchens
supplied with all the necessary closets, cupboards, and north facing location to keep out the heat
in summer. Every aspect of the home was discussed, from the second story, the den, the cellar
even the verandahs (he often called piazzas), with detailed instructions from swinging pantry
doors, to the fireplace(s) and all important mantel—often included in the entrance stair hall, as
well as his preferred choices of hardware, radiators, boilers, door knobs, paint and varnish,
plumbing, even stained glass windows.2e Such detailed instructions may stem from his mail
order design activities, which include a residence recently documented as extant in Picton,
Ontario (2 Johnson Street, ca. 1898).29
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Figure 20: 2 Johnson Street, Picton, Ontario, ca.
1898, mail order design by F.T. Lent (photo: E.
Tumak, 2017).

Lent was also notable as an artist. He
was a member of the Academy of
Design, and in 1884 the New York
Herald lists F.T. Lent as "one of others
represented among the painters now in
view" at the American Art Gallery in
New York City.30

Lent spent his final years at his principal
residence in Sterling, Massachusetts, but
returned each summer to the Gananoque
area to reside in his cottage “Wee Rocks” located on a pair of small islands (connected by a
bridge) south of McDonald Island in the Admiralty Group near Gananoque.

Lent’s success as an architect was based on several factors. He had the ability to appreciate the
sensibilities of the late-19th and early-20th century consumers. He recognized the importance of
the design qualities of the home but, perhaps more importantly, he also understood the home was
much more than a material space: it also had to satisfy the family emotionally and
psychologically. It enabled the family to create a domestic space, a sanctuary from the outside
world, and was a means of constructing an identity through its style and location.

Lent advocated the Colonial Revival style in both theory and practice, and he developed a
personal style that drew on the classical and vernacular origins of the movement. He used this
formula in his work in the suburbs around New York City, and translated it across the border to
Gananogue and the Thousand Islands. Additionally, Lent was able to successfully market his

28 Dolores R. Buckley, “Discovering Frank T. Lent,” Thousand Islands life.com, posted 8 April 2012.

29  Brdlé, “From A Home In The Suburbs To A Retreat In The Wilderness, p 13-22.
30 Buckley, “Discovering Frank T. Lent.”





services through the three books he wrote and through advertisements he took out in various
publications. The ideas conveyed and the practical information provided, not only offer a look
into building practice and architectural style during this period, but more importantly, they
provide a glimpse into the culture around the home and the development of suburban and resort
architecture. Many of his buildings that exist today are quite striking, and admirable for their
contribution to the architectural landscape.s1

Builder

The firm of Mitchell and Wilson was responsible for the construction of the 1902 augmentation
of Blinkbonnie. In addition to many structures in Gananoque, the firm built numerous summer
residences in the Thousand Islands—many to the designs of Lent, including some of the former
outbuildings at Blinkbonnie. The firm would remain the leading Gananoque construction in
Gananoque through the 20" century, and remained in family control.s2

At the time of Blinkbonnie’s aggrandisement, the firm was headed by David Mitchell (whose
family started the business in Gananoque in 1854) and George Wilson who started his career as a
bricklayer, and by 1892 was successful enough to join with the prominent Mitchell family
business.33 The men developed the firm into the leading Gananoque construction company.s4

George Mitchell came to Gananoque in 1833, but did not settle there permanently until 1842
when he established his first Gananoque business as a carriage shop, later adding joinery and
house building. In 1854 he purchased property on the Gananoque River near the upper dam
from W.S. (1) Macdonald, for his expanding carriage factory. In addition to his business
activities, George was a respected leader as Precentor of Psalmody with St. Andrew’s
Presbyterian Church, Gananoque, (i.e., the person who kept the choir in tune when singing
psalms, establishing the initial pitch with a tuning fork, because pianos and organs were
forbidden in St. Andrew’s until 1874). For his duties, he received an inscribed silver watch from
the congregation for 24 years in this role. After the death of George (1892) and his wife Jane,
the family commissioned a memorial window in their honour in St. Andrew’s. They had four
sons and five daughters. Around 1903-04, Jane relocated to Winnipeg, where some of her
children lived, and died there in 1908.

David Alexander Mitchell (b. 1859), was the son who continued as manager of the family
business on the Mitchell side (having started work in the company in 1886). With David Wilson
as a partner, the two purchased the company from Jane in 1892, and the firm became known as
Mitchell and Wilson. Wilson looked after building construction, and Mitchell the planing, mill
and supply business. Wilson died in 1911, and D. Mitchell purchased D. Wilson’s interests in
the company from his widow, but carried on under the name of Mitchell and Wilson. In 1912

31 Bralé, “From A Home In The Suburbs To A Retreat In The Wilderness, p 106-107.

32 Susan W. Smith, “Mitchell & Wilson Ltd.’s Minute Book, Part I” Thousand Islands life.com, posted 13 July,
2012; Gananoque Historical Society Newsletter, no. 4, Feb. 1986, p. 39; St. Andrew’s Preshyterian Church,
160™ Anniversary Sunday, November 16, 1997, p.7; Unnamed newspaper source, 1939, in St. Andrew’s history
scrapbook, p. 10; and Mitchell and Wilson history (type-written manuscript), Mitchell and Wilson Limited
fonds, unpaginated.

33 Gananoque Historical Society Newsletter, no. 4, Feb. 1986, p. 39.

34 St. Andrew’s Presbyterian Church, 160" Anniversary Sunday, November 16, 1997, p.7; and Unnamed

newspaper source, 1939, in St. Andrew’s history scrapbook, p. 10.





David sold his investments and property at the upper dam, (as the location acquired in 1854 was
too small for the expanding business) to the Jones Shovel Co. for their expanding their shovel
factory. The Mitchell & Wilson business moved to the northwest corner of Market and St.
Lawrence streets. There he built a factory, office, three storage sheds and a stable. He retired in
1922, at which time the business was incorporated under the name Mitchell and Wilson Ltd. The
business was assumed by his nephew Ross Richardson who moved back to Gananoque from
Winnipeg in 1910, and who remained manager for the next 42 years, retiring in 1964 (died
1984). David died in 1937 at 77, at which time his daughter Mary, became president of the
company.

In addition to Blinkbonnie, notable structures of the combined Mitchell & Wilson from the early
20" century include: the Skinner residence in 1905 (now the Sleepy Hollow B&B, Fig. 6); the
Gananogue Band Stand of 1921 (Fig. 13, designed by then Gananoque Band member William
Rees); the old high school opposite St. Andrew’s Presbyterian Church (constructed 1895,
demolished 1949), and the gates at the three town entrances; the Clock Tower, numerous
factories such as the Electric Light Company; churches (such as the 1886-87 enlargement of St.
Andrew’s Presbyterian) and some of the largest island homes including Limberlost (foot of Hill
Island), Nokomis Lodge (Howe Island), Benson’s Island (lvy Lea).3s

The work of George Wilson is not to be confused with R.J. Wilson who was also a prominent
builder in Gananogue at the time, and who was responsible for the construction of the
Gananoque Swing Bridge on Water Street (1893, designated 2013), and the Gananoque Pump
House (1903-05, designated 2009).36

ENVIRONMENT

Compatibility with Heritage
Environs

 Figure 21: Postcard of Blinkbonnie
outbuildings (coach house and water tower),
formerly located in the northwest ell of the
property, viewed from the west lawn/garden
(Douglas Rombough postcard collection
Queen’s University Archives).

Blinkbonnie of the early to mid-20™
century was situated on a spacious
town property, enhanced by
expansive and well detailed porches/verandahs, and surrounded with meticulously tended
gardens. There were several outbuildings in a northwest ell of the grounds, including: a 50-foot
water tower, laundry, and garage (originally a coach house of 1902, demolished 1983). The

35 Gananogue Band Stand, heritage plaque.

3 Town of Gananoque heritage research file; history of the Mitchell and Wilson construction firm, in Sleepy
Hollow Bed & Breakfast heritage research file, n.s., n.d.; conversation with Ewart Richardson, 30 October 2009,
regarding the history of the Mitchell and Wilson company; Edgar Tumak, Heritage Designation Report, 95 King
Street West, Gananoque, Ontario, 2009; and Edgar Tumak, Heritage Designation Report, Gananoque Swing Bridge,
Water Street, Gananoque, Ontario, 2013.





water tower was never used, because of the establishment of the municipal water system in 1903-
05 with the construction of the Gananoque Waterworks Pump House, 110 Kate Street (however,
the tower remained in place for decades).37

Figure 22:Current site plan for 50 Main
Street, Gananoque. (source: Town of
Gananoque Planning Department, 2017).

a2y
47.7

47.6'

I I

I

| |

I -

! | The residence, and later guest

: | i house/hotel, was located on a
“ﬁ" ) Lj E . L 1 ? ! block of commodious residences.
b = -k I

| |

I [

I I

I |

I

I

I

]

i Further to the west there were
more commodious residences and

y EXISTING - . )
7 o ~ a mansions. On the east side of
2 //; HOUSE | o Main Street, directly opposite
< I

! ~2_ Blinkbonnie, the houses were
' « modest in size. Behind/east of
these, were industrial buildings,

I
g 1S
} __I_mfmu'fL . backing on to the Thousand
|5

3o\ i Islands Railway tracks, Mill Street
h " and a head race channel that
forked away from the Gananoque River at the north end of Mill Street (Fig.13).38

i

Figure 23: Blinkbonnie, Main Street Street elevation, viewed from the northeast, ca. late 1920s, showing the ample
porte-cochere and north/side porch/veranda (Douglas Rombough postcard collection Queen’s University Archives).

r Most of these large and
small 19" century
residences remain,
although a significant
modification to the
environs is the Clarion
Inn, the closest
component being a
one-storey pool
building sitting tightly
at the northwest/rear
corner of Blinkbonnie
(Fig. 1). While large,
the Clarion Inn is lower
than Blinkbonnie and
set further back from
Main Street, and as such does not have an overriding impact on the much larger mass of the
historic building. However, the current site configuration of the Clarion Inn (2013) only

37 Mitchell and Wilson and Charles Macdonald, contract, September 2, 1902, Mitchell and Wilson Limited; and
Tumak, Gananoque Waterworks Pump House, 2009.
38  Underwriter’s Survey Bureau: Insurance Plan of Gananoque, plan dated 1947, sheet/map 4.





provides a narrow side/north property for Blinkbonnie, with the property division now extending
onto the area of a former sizeable porch/veranda dating from the 1902 Blinkbonnie design.

On the Market Street side—a narrow, one-way street, the Clarion Inn has a very prominent
impact, effectively forming a two-storey wall on the north boundary of the Blinkbonnie site.
While the rear/west end of the property remains open to Market Street, the 2013 property
severance also cut the Blinkbonnie site access to the road, whereas formerly it always extended
to the street.

Community Context / Landmark Status

Blinkbonnie has served a prominent role in Gananque’s hospitality industry for about 90 years.
Prior to this, it was one of the town’s grandest residences from the early-20" century until the
early 1920s. Going back earlier, from the mid-19" century, even though a much smaller
residence, it was still a commodious residence of one of Gananoque’s leading families. A wide
section of the local population, or people associated with Gananoque, know of this highly
pedigreed status, and it can still be presented in local media reports without an image or address
provided.

Located near the north end of Main Street, with the property visually extending west/back to
Market Street, it is centrally located, just removed from downtown. Further it is included as part
of Gananoque’s Lowertown: classified by the Planning Department as undergoing a renaissance,
and considered an up-and-coming neighbourhood, particularly with significant residential and
recreational developments along the nearby St. Lawrence shoreline.

A further distinguishing feature, the imposing cupola/widow’s walk that rises from the centre of
the large front section, increases its visibility from various vantage points in town.
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File Attachment
COW-ED-2018-02 -Shellee Fournier-Proposed Heritage Designation–Blinkbonnie–50 Main Street-03Apr2018.pdf


The Corporation of the Town of

G A NANOQUE

Heritage Building Restoration Grant

Authority Economic Development Manager
Amending By-law No. 2018-0xx \ Establishing By-law No. \ 201x-Xxx
1. PURPOSE

The municipality recognizes and wishes to assist with the additional expenses property
owners encounter when maintaining or rehabilitating heritage buildings in their original
state or in a manner that restores or preserves their authenticity as heritage structures. To
meet this end, the municipality will provide a financial incentive to encourage the protection,
maintenance and restoration of Gananoque’s designated heritage buildings.

Through this grant program, Council also wishes to encourage the designation of
Gananoque’s heritage buildings recognizing that preservation of the many historic buildings
located within the community contributes to defining the Town’s distinctive built character.
The Corporation of the Town of Gananoque will recoup its investment through the value
added to the community by retaining its structural heritage and through the protection and
enhancement of the assessment base by encouraging that heritage buildings are restored,
rehabilitated and regularly maintained.

2. SCOPE
This Grant is available to all owners of municipally heritage designated properties.

3. AUTHORITY
It is the responsibility of the Economic Development Manager to administer the Heritage
Building Restoration Policy.

4. POLICY
Who Is Eligible

This annual grant is available to the owner(s)* of heritage properties (industrial,
commercial or residential) who have completed an approved restoration of a heritage
feature of a designated property. All property must be located within the Town of
Gananoque. The maximum grant available is 25% of eligible construction costs capped
at $10,000.

*Owner = An eligible heritage property owner, and includes a corporation and partnership
and the heirs, executors, administrators and other legal representatives of a person to
whom the context can apply according to law.

What Is Eligible
“Eligible Heritage Property” means a property or portion of property:
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e Thatis located in the Town of Gananoque;

e Thatis designated under Part IV of the Ontario Heritage Act, R.S.0. 1990, c, 0. 18, as
amended, or is part of a heritage conservation district under Part V of the Ontario
Heritage Act; or becomes designated under the said Act. And;

e Thatis subject to an Easement Agreement with the Town under Section 37 of the
Ontario Heritage Act, or an Easement Agreement with the Ontario Heritage Trust
under Section 22 of the Ontario Heritage Act for the preservation and maintenance of
heritage buildings.

Note: It is not the intent of this Grant Program to cover the costs associated with the
designation of heritage buildings or property. Applicants wishing to municipally designate
their heritage building should consult with the Economic Development Manager at Town
Hall.

Approved Restoration

An approved restoration shall mean the rehabilitation, reconstruction and/or repair of a
building or property, or the portion of a building or property, that is deemed to have
heritage value as determined in the heritage designation of the building or property where
the rehabilitation, reconstruction and/or repair conducted in a manner so as to maintain or
restore the authenticity of the heritage elements and has been approved by the Chief
Building Official (CBO) in consultation with the Heritage Advisory Panel (HAP), or the CBO
has accepted a Work Plan, prepared by a licensed architect with demonstrated expertise in
the restoration of heritage buildings. Only work to be performed by a qualified contractor
will be eligible. Applications will not be approved for “do-it-yourself’ renovations unless
the person is deemed to be qualified by the CBO.

Frequency of Application

A property owner may receive support for only one (1) grant per property per year.
Applications may be considered for up to two (2) years in a row. It is the intent of this
Program to distribute funding to numerous heritage property owners as funding permits.
An Application will not be considered for the same building more than two (2) times in
any five (5) year period.

Application Procedures

The owner of an eligible heritage property must complete the attached Application Form
and submit their request for funding prior to the work being started. The owner must
provide his, her or its written consent to the Chief Building Official (CBO) to conduct an
inspection of the eligible heritage property to ensure compliance with the Heritage
Easement Agreement. Applications must be received a minimum of six (6) weeks prior to
commencement of the construction project.

Funding Availability
It is the intent of this Heritage Building Restoration Grant to allow up to $10,000 in funds
per calendar year, however the Grant is subject, at all times, to the availability of funding
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as determined by Council during the budget process each year. Funding approval will be
based on the eligibility criterion. Where funding is insufficient to award a heritage grant
to every applicant who otherwise complies with the Terms of this grant, Applications will
be considered in the order they are received. Applications that would qualify for a grant
of less than a $500 will not be eligible.

Basis of Calculation

The Heritage Building Restoration Grant shall be calculated based upon the renovation of
the portion of the eligible heritage property. Funding will be provided for 25% of the
renovation cost of an approved restoration, up to a maximum of 1/3™ of the total amount
of funding available for that year. Three (3) quotations from qualified contractors must be
obtained.

Repayment
If the owner of an eligible heritage property demolishes the building or structure that is

the eligible heritage property or breaches the Terms of an Easement Agreement within
ten (10) years of receipt of the Grant, the heritage easement will require the owner to
repay the Heritage Grant and the repayment may be charged against the property in the
same manner as property taxes. This requirement will carry forward as the property is
transferred from owner to owner and shall be written into the Easement Agreement.

Review Process

Applications for financial assistance will be reviewed by the Economic Development
Manager for completeness. The Economic Development Manager, as per the Delegation
of Powers By-law, will approve grants that clearly meet the eligibility of the Policy as
outlined by the Council of the Town of Gananoque, and that all Applications that request to
deviate from the Policy be brought to Council for consideration. Funding approval will be
based on the eligible criterion and available funding. This is an ongoing process throughout
the year until all funds are exhausted. Note: Funding is conditional on the Applicant
receiving a Heritage Alteration Permit.

The Applicant will be provided with a formal notice of restoration approval and the amount
of the grant funding that has been approved. At this point, the Applicant may commence
eligible construction.

Release of Grant Funds and Post-Project Report

The Town will issue the full approved grant amount after a satisfactory post inspection is
completed by the Chief Building Official. A property owner that is approved for a grant
from the Town is required to submit a before and after project photo record and a brief
report within two (2) months after the completion of the project which clearly articulates
the success of the project. If the post-project photo record and/or the project report are
not submitted, further requests for financial support will not be considered. The executive
summation of this Grant Program will be presented to Council each December to celebrate
the community’s successes.

SCHEDULE(S):
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Schedule ‘A’ — Heritage Building Restoration Grant Application Form.
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Heritage Building Restoration Grant — Schedule ‘A’

Heritage Building Restoration Grant — Application Form

Name of Applicant:

Mailing Address:

Phone Number:

Address of Eligible Heritage Property

Proof of Designation/By-Law #

Briefly describe the proposed restoration of the property:

Were three (3) quotations from qualified contractors received for the proposed work? (Please

attach)

Quotation Quotation #1

Quotation#2

Quotation #3

Name of Contractor

Projected cost of eligible
construction (not including taxes) S

s

s

Average cost =S

Eligible Maximum Grant = $

Quotation (1+2+3) divided by 3.

(Average cost multiplied by 25%)

| hereby give consent for the Chief Building Official to review my proposal to determine

eligibility with this Heritage Grant Program.

Name: Signature:

Date:

PLEASE RETURN THIS FORM TO:

Economic Development Manager

The Corporation of the Town of Gananoque
30 King Street East, Box 100

Gananoque, Ontario K7G 2T6

Email: ecdevmanager@gananoque.ca
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Phone: (613) 382-2149 ext. 1127 Fax: (613) 382-8587
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF

NAN OQUE

Canadian Gateway to the 1000 Islands

HERITAGE COMMITTEE MINUTES

On March 14, 2018 @ 6:00 PM
Town Hall Boardroom

. . L. Recommended Action / Draft
Item Title/Description Attachment Motion
1 CALL To ORDER — Chair call meeting to order at 6:05 PM
CoMMITTEE MEMBERS PRESENT
PuBLIC AT LARGE: Linda Dunford
Joanne van Dreumel
David Anderson
Art Thivierge
STAFF: Linda Sicoli
Counci Jeff Girling
REGRETS: Derryl Wood
2 ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA
MorTioN No. 2018- 01 Moved by: L. Dunford Seconded by: J. Van Dreumel
Be it resolved that the Heritage Committee adopt the March 14, 2018 agenda.
CARRIED
3 HEALTH SAFETY & WELLNESS
4 D1SCLOSURE OF PECUNIARY INTEREST & THE GENERAL NATURE THEREOF
5 PuBLIC QUESTION/COMMENT None
DEPUTATIONS
Sherry Johnson updated the Committee on her research on the history of the Town’s
Mayors. She is continuing her research to identify some gaps in information and hopes
6 . . . e
to be able to submit a complete list and have identifying photos for each Mayor from
1890 to present.
7 REPORTS/NEW BUSINESS None

AGNES MAULE MACHAR

Agnes Maule Machar was designated as a person of National Historic Significance by
the Historic Sites And Monuments Board in 2015. Bluff Park has been approved by
Council as the location for a plaque dedicated in her honour and once text has been
created by Parks Canada, it will be shared with the Committee for vetting. All costs are
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Heritage Committee Minutes March 14, 2018

Item

Recommended Action /

Title/D ipti
itle/Description Y

Draft
Motion

being covered by Parks Canada and a date for a dedication ceremony is yet to be
decided.

Linda Sicoli to see if visual examples of Parks Canada dedication plagues are available.

LOTTERY LICENCE
A notice was given regarding the required report for licence M775853 from March —
May 2017 for a blanket raffle. Report must be filed before other licences may be

issued.

Jeff Girling will liaise with Derryl Wood to complete the report.

BLINK BONNIE

There was discussion around the offers made to purchase the Blink Bonnie that were
not accepted. The listing can no longer be found on MLS and the signs have been
removed indicating that the property is no longer for sale.

The Committee received a letter from the MacDonald Stone Foundation, officially
requesting that Blinkbonnie become a designated Heritage Site of Gananoque, Ontario.
The Committee supported her request. The letter will be shared with the Clerk as
correspondence to Council on April 3", 2018.

MorTioN No. 2018-02 Moved by: J. Girling Seconded by: L. Dunford
Be it resolved that the Heritage Committee receive and support the letter of request
from the MacDonald Stone Foundation to put forward an intent to designate the
Blinkbonnie and that they seek Council support to approach the current owner for his
consent.

CARRIED

UPDATED BYLAWS
Request for quotes has gone out to a number of heritage consultants and proposals are
expected.

ACTION: Linda Sicoli will share quotes with CAO, Shellee Fournier, to proceed with by-
law updating process, once received.

SUSAN PUSsH

Linda Sicoli shared with the group the response from the Ontario Trillium Foundation
regarding the capital grant submitted in the Fall 2017 to not proceed to full scoring of
the application due to ineligibility. The shelter proposed for Susan Push does not
prevent nor enhance public engagement and that is the Foundation’s primary impact
for granting.
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Heritage Committee Minutes March 14, 2018

Item

Recommended Action /

Title/D ipti
itle/Description Y

Draft
Motion

The group shall research other grants that reflect a closer match in criteria.

LIBRARY ORAL HISTORY PROJECT

Art Thivierge brought forward a question from the public regarding the progress on this
and it was discovered that the Thousand Islands Boat Museum is now working with the
Library to move this forward.

CORRESPONDENCE

LETTER FROM MACDONALD STONE FOUNDATION — DISCUSSED WITH BLINKBONNIE

8 MINUTES OF COMMITTEE (ADOPTION)
MoTioN No. 2018-03 Moved by: D. Anderson  Seconded by: J. Girling
Be it resolved that the Heritage Committee adopt the minutes from the meeting held
on December 13, 2017.
CARRIED
ADJOURNMENT
MorTioN No. 2018-04 Moved by: L. Dunford Seconded by: A. Thivierge
9 Be it resolved that the Heritage Committee adjourn the March 14, 2018 meeting.
CARRIED

NEXT MEETING: TBA UPON THE RETURN OF SHELLEY HIRSTWOOD

David Anderson, Chair

Linda Sicoli, A/Economic Development Manager
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S GOLDER

TECHNICAL MEMORANDUM

DATE  June 8, 2018 Project No. 1898676
TO Shellee Fournier, Chief Administrative Officer
Corporation of the Town of Gananoque
CC Henry Cary, Ph.D. CAHP
FROM  Benjamin Holthof, M.PIl., M.M.A. CAHP EMAIL Benjamin_Holthof@golder.com

STATEMENTS OF CULTURAL HERITAGE VALUE OR INTEREST FOR SIX (6) PROPERTIES DESIGNATED
UNDER THE ONTARIO HERITAGE ACT IN THE TOWN OF GANANOQUE.

1.0 INTRODUCTION

In March 2018, the Town of Gananoque (the Town) retained Golder Associates Ltd. (Golder) to develop
statements of cultural heritage value or interest (SCHVI) for six properties on the Town’s Municipal Register of
Cultural Heritage Properties. Although recognized to have cultural heritage value or interest, the designating by-
laws (Attachments A-E) and register descriptions for the six properties lack detail and do not include full SCHVI
with list of heritage attributes.

In 2005, the Ontario Heritage Act (OHA) was updated with Part IV, Section 27, subsection 1.1 requiring that a
municipal heritage register include “a statement explaining the cultural heritage value or interest of the property
and a description of the heritage attributes of the property (OHA Part IV, s27. 1.1c). The SCHVI drafted in
Sections 2.0 to 7.0 of this technical memorandum are intended to fulfill this requirement under the OHA.

1.1 Scope and Method
The properties investigated for this technical memorandum are listed in Table 1:

Table 1: Designated properties with insufficient Statements of CHVI

NETNI] Civic Address Location Designating by-law
old Foundry 9-15 King Street Lot 1027A, quck N, Plan 86, East of the By-Law 79-3
East Gananogque River

Public Library 10 King Street East | Lot A, Plan 86, East of the Gananoque River |By-Law 76-13. The
association of the
bylaw with the ‘Public
Library and Town Hall’

Town Hall 30 King Street East | Lot A, Plan 86, East of the Gananoque River is the result of a
clerical error - see
Section 3.0.
Former Provincial Lot 10, Plan 86, East of the Gananoque

98 King Street East By-Law 2005-63

Hotel River, being part 1 on 28R-5737

110 Stone Street Lot 14, Block O, Plan 86, East of the

Old Post Office South Gananogue River By-Law 78-20
Clock Tower 140 Stone Street Part of Block O Plan 86, East of the By-Law 78-21
South Gananoque River
Golder Associates Ltd.
683 Innovation Drive, Unit 1 Kingston, Ontario, K7K 7E6 Canada T: +1 613 542 0029 | F: +1 613 542-0689

Golder and the G logo are trademarks of Golder Associates Corporation go Ider.com





Shellee Fournier, Chief Administrative Officer Project No. 1898676

Corporation of the Town of Gananoque June 8, 2018

Background information on each property was compiled from the original designating by-laws, the Town of
Gananoque Public Library and online sources. Field investigations were conducted on April 24, 2018 by cultural
heritage specialist Ben Holthof, who photo-documented each property from public rights-of-way.

Most of the architectural terms used in this technical memorandum are taken from the Parks Canada Canadian
Inventory of Historic Building Recording Form (4" Edition, 1980), and the SCHVI follow the guidance and format
recommended in the Ontario Ministry of Tourism, Culture and Sport Ontario Heritage Tool Kit: Designating
Heritage Properties: A Guide to Municipal Designation of Individual Properties Under the Ontario Heritage Act
(2006).
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2.0 OLD FOUNDRY, 9-15 KING STREET EAST

By-Law 79-3 mentions only that the ‘Old Foundry’ was of ‘historic and architectural value’ and neither defined
what constituted the ‘Old Foundry’ nor included any details on the buildings of the complex or its setting.

2.1 Proposed Statement of Cultural Heritage Value or Interest
Description of Property — The Old Foundry, 9-15 King Street East

The Old Foundry, also known as the Bell Tower Building, is centrally located in the Town of Gananoque on the
north bank of the Gananoque River, near the King Street Bridge and on the east side of King Street East. Built in
stone a single-storey high and on an irregular plan, the Old Foundry is the most prominent structure of a former
industrial complex that today includes three other one-to-two storey buildings on a large polygonal lot.

Statement of Cultural Heritage Value or Interest

The Old Foundry has design or physical value for its stone construction executed to a high degree of
craftsmanship, multiple large openings, and for its unique monitor and small bell tower capping its roof. Its
historical value lies in its direct association with Gananoque’s heritage as a thriving industrial centre in the 19™
century, and for its use for many years by the Gananoque Spring and Axle Company, later a part of Ontario Steel
Products Company Limited. The building is considered a local landmark and through its materials, design,
massing, and location in downtown Gananogque in close proximity to the river maintains and supports the Town’s
historic industrial and commercial character.
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Description of Heritage Attributes

Key attributes that express the value of the Old Foundry include its:

m Single storey massing with irregular quadrilateral plan aligned with King Street East;
m Hip roof capped with a multi-sashed monitor and octagonal bell tower;

m  Coursed rubble stone walls with large cut stone quoins;

m  Symmetrically placed openings with segmental arched heads; and,

m Paired four-over-four sash windows on the north and south sides.

Key attributes that express the property’s contextual value include its:

m Location near the centre of the Town and siting with minimal setback on a main thoroughfare and directly
adjacent the Gananoque River; and,

m Visual relationships with other 19" century historic properties including the Public Library (10 King Street
East) and Town Hall (30 King Street East).
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3.0 PUBLIC LIBRARY, 10 KING STREET EAST

Although the Public Library at 10 King Street East is included on the Gananoque Heritage Register as a property
designated as protected heritage property under By-Law 1976-13, Golder found that the by-law in fact applies to
the property at 30 King Street East. When the bylaw was drafted both the Public Library and Town Hall were
located at 30 King Street East, yet by the time the heritage register was created the Public Library had moved to
its current location at 10 King Street East; through a clerical error, the Public Library’s ‘designation’ followed it to
its new address even though the by-law only protects 30 King Street East.

10 King Street East is therefore not designated under Part IV of the OHA but still demonstrates cultural heritage
value or interest. Consequently, Golder has proposed the following SCHVI should designation of the property be
pursued in the future.

3.1 Proposed Statement of Cultural Heritage Value or Interest
Description of Property - Gananoque Public Library, 10 King Street East

The former Victoria Hotel, currently used as a public library, stands on the north bank of the Gananoque River
adjacent to Confederation Park and near the Town centre. It is composed of a two-storey main block facing King
Street East, and a single-storey rear wing that runs along the south side of Park Street.

Statement of Cultural Heritage Value or Interest

Constructed in the 1840s, the two-storey brick main block has design or physical value as a relatively rare and
representative example of a Classical Revival style hotel. Its balanced, ‘temple’ front features a central entrance
flanked by large shopfront windows, symmetrical fenestration at the second level and gable, and low front gable
roof with returned eaves. The design or physical value extends to the rear wing, which includes a cupola with bell
cast roof.
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The property has historical value and associative value not only as an early hotel in the community (originally the
Albion Hotel, then Victoria Hotel) but also for its direct association with the Jones Shovel Company, a successful
local company that operated in the building between 1906 and 1963. Combined, the architecture of the main block
and wing defines and supports the historic commercial character of King Street East in downtown Gananoque,
and serves the community as a public library.

Description of Heritage Attributes

Key attributes that express the design or physical value of 10 King Street East include its:
m Combined two-storey main block and storey-and-a-half rear wing;
m Low front gable roof on the main block with returned eaves;

m Second level balcony on the King Street East frontage of the main block that is supported by decorated
metal pillars;

m  Symmetrical fenestration and door openings on the King Street East front (east) of the main block;
m  Symmetrical fenestration and central door on the north facade of the rear wing; and,

m  Cupola with a bell cast roof on the rear wing roof.

Key attributes that express the property’s contextual value include its:

m Location in the centre of the Town and siting with minimal setback on a main thoroughfare; and,

m Visual relationships with other 19" century historic properties including the Old Foundry (9-15 King Street
East) and Town Hall (30 King Street East).

o GOLDER 6





Shellee Fournier, Chief Administrative Officer Project No. 1898676
Corporation of the Town of Gananoque June 8, 2018

4.0 TOWN HALL, 30 KING STREET EAST

As discussed in Section 3.0, By-Law 1976-13 applies to 30 King Street East, formerly the Town Hall and Public
Library, but now known only as the Town Hall. Its reasons for designation were listed as:

1) Itis an example of early 19" century architecture;

2) It has associations with the founding families of Ganonque.

4.1 Proposed Statement of Cultural Heritage Value or Interest
Description of Property — Gananoque Town Hall, 30 King Street East

A former residence, the two storey brick Gananoque Town Hall is centrally located within an urban park on the
west side of King Street East in downtown Gananoque, and near the north bank of the Gananoque River.

The large, irregular-shaped property includes a circular drive with central fountain, several monuments and
historical plagues, a designated band shell?, and is covered in mature trees.

Statement of Cultural Heritage Value or Interest

The Town Hall's design or physical value is evident in its finely executed Neo-Classical massing, style, and
details, including its full two-storey height, side gable roof with strong cornice, double large brick chimney stacks
and parapets at the gables, its expert combination of brick and stone construction, and its symmetrical
fenestration with large central entrance and porch. Its date of construction between 1831 and 1832 and
combination of decorative elements also makes it a relatively early and representative example of its style.

1 The band shell is designated under By-Law 1992-32, enabled under Part IV of the OHA.
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The property’s historical and associative value stems from its direct association with John McDonald, a local
landowner, merchant, postmaster, and member of the Legislative Council of Canada who had the house built as a
family residence. The McDonalds were early arrivals to Gananoque and are recognized as founders of the
community; this prominence is reflected in the property’s location on Town's main street and overlooking the
Gananoque River.

Contextually, the property’s heritage value is recognized through its status as a local landmark, and it defines and
supports the historic character of the surrounding area, which includes many other 19" century structures. As part
of a designed cultural heritage landscape, the house remains physically, functionally, and historically linked to its

maintained grounds with formal circular entrance and fountain, band shell, and numerous large and mature trees.

Description of Heritage Attributes

Key attributes that express the design or physical value, and historical or associative value, of the Gananoque
Town Hall and its cultural heritage landscape include its two storey, five-bay residence built in the Neo-Classical
style with;

m  Symmetrical fenestration;
m  Wide central entrance with semi-elliptical transom, sidelights, and flat-roofed open porch with balcony;

m Red brick masonry combined with stone detailing at the lintels and sills, string or belt course, and gabled
parapets;

m Large and brick double chimney stacks at both gables; and,

m Moulded wood cornice and denticulated frieze;

Key attributes that express the property as a designed cultural heritage landscape include the:

m Residence sited in the middle of a large estate lot;

m Formal vehicle entrance from King Street East circling in front of the house around a decorative fountain;

m Formal plantings, maintained lawns, and mature trees at the property lines but also distributed throughout
the property;

m A number of commemorative plagues and monuments; and,
m Visual relationship with the designated band shell.
Key attributes that express the property’s contextual value include its:

m Location in the centre of the Town on a main thoroughfare and on a promontory overlooking the Gananoque
River; and,

m Visual relationships with other 19" century historic properties including the Old Foundry (9-15 King Street
East) and Public Library (10 King Street East).
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5.0 FORMER PROVINCIAL HOTEL, 98 KING STREET EAST

Although By-Law 2005-63 for 98 King Street East was drafted after revisions to the OHA and includes a
considerable amount of structural and historical description, as well as a list of ‘character-defining elements’ (as
per the national ‘Statement of Significance’ guidance) in an accompanying designation report, it does not clearly
and succinctly articulate the property’s CHVI.

5.1 Proposed Statement of Cultural Heritage Value or Interest
Description of Property — former Provincial Hotel, 98 King Street East

The former Provincial Hotel, a two-storey stone commercial building with L-shaped plan, occupies the northwest
corner of King Street East and Stone Street in downtown Gananoque.

Statement of Cultural Heritage Value or Interest

The former Provincial Hotel displays design or physical value through its expertly executed coursed rubble
construction and evolution from a five-bay structure to one with an L-shaped plan and fourteen bays. Although
gutted by fire in 2004, the hotel retains its overall two-storey massing, and symmetrical fenestration with voussoir
or lintel and lug sill window treatments. Its mansard roof with front gable dormers was reconstructed to its early
20™ century appearance, recreating a Second Empire style that is rare in the Town.

Its historical or associative value is linked to its long-standing use as a hotel and central ‘anchor’ in the Town’s
commercial development, originally as the Cheevers Hotel/House, then as the Provincial Hotel from 1885 to 1989.
Long recognized as a landmark, the hotel’s height, construction, and prominent siting at the corner of two
downtown streets defines the commercial character of the area, and supports its heritage and historic
development.
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Description of Heritage Attributes

Key attributes that express the design or physical value of 98 King Street East include its:
m  Two storey massing with L-shaped plan;

m Locally sourced, coursed rubble masonry with rough cut voussoirs and quoins;

m  Visually recognizable evidence of expansion and change over its history;

m  Symmetrical fenestration with lintel or voussoir and lug sill treatment; and,

m  Mansard roof with multiple gable front dormers rendered in the Second Empire Style.
Key attributes that express the property’s contextual value include its:

m  Siting with minimal setback at the corner of two downtown streets.
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6.0 OLD POST OFFICE, 110 STONE STREET SOUTH

Despite its architectural prominence and important civic function, By-law 78-20 for the Old Post Office notes only
that it is a ‘property of historic and architectural value or interest.’

6.1 Proposed Statement of Cultural Heritage Value or Interest
Description of Property — former Post Office, 110 Stone Street South

The two-storey brick former post office with single storey rear wing is located on a rectangular lot with paved
parking and greenspace at the southwest corner of the intersection of Stone Street South and Pine Street,
approximately two blocks south of Gananoque’s historic commercial core.

Statement of Cultural Heritage Value or Interest

From its imposing massing to solidity expressed in its combined brick and stone construction, the former Post
Office has design or physical value as a representative example of an institutional building rendered in the
Romanesque Revival style, and for the high degree of craftsmanship required to build its semi-circular relieving
arches filled with basket weave brickwork, shaped and rock-faced rusticated sills and lintels, belt or string
courses, corbelling, and stone and wood finials.
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As the Town'’s first post office (built 1887-1888), the building has historical or associative value as a community
institution, but also for its direct association with Thomas Fuller, who designed the building while serving as Chief
Architect of the Department of Public Works. Fuller is renowned as a prolific designer of public structures in
Canada, having achieved fame in 1866 as one of the principal architects of the Parliament Building’s Centre
Block.

Although the Post Office ceased operating as a post office in 1914, it retains contextual value through its visual
and historical links with the Town’s downtown just a short distance to the west. Together with the Clock Tower at
140 Stone Street and three nearby stone churches, the Post Office also aids to define and support the institutional
character of the immediate area.

Description of Heritage Attributes

Key attributes that express the design or physical value of the former Post Office at 110 Stone Street South
include its:

m Imposing two storey massing;
m  Symmetrical fenestration with balanced off-centre entrances;
m  Combination of red brick and stone detailing including:
= Tall rock-faced rusticated stone foundation with smoothed stone watertable;

= Semi-circular relieving arches filled with basket weave brickwork and with floral carved imposts and
keystones;

= Multiple stone belt or string courses, the top-most of which is carved;
= Heavy stone lintels and sills;
= Brick corbelling;

m Central gable with large stone finials;

m ‘1888’ date stone on the west corner of the front fagade and large ‘POST OFFICE’ signage stone beneath
the central gable;

m  Thick wood cornice with heavy modillions;

m  Steep, slate-clad hip roof topped with a parapet with corner finials;

m  Prominent metal hoppers and rainwater leaders on the front facade;

m Tall brick chimney; and,

m  Single storey rear wing with hip roof.

Key attributes that express the property’s contextual value include its:

m Location near the commercial core of Gananoque and association with other institutional buildings; and,

m Visual relationship with the Clock Tower and nearby churches.
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7.0 CLOCK TOWER, 140 STONE STREET SOUTH

By-Law 78-21, like its contemporary by-laws, designated the Clock Tower based solely on the description of the
property having ‘historic and architectural value or interest'.

7.1 Proposed Statement of Cultural Heritage Value or Interest
Description of Property — Clock Tower, 140 Stone Street South

The 85-foot tall red brick and wood Clock Tower is located on the west side of Stone Street South between Pine
Street and Spruce Alley, south of the former Post Office at 110 Stone Street South, and north of the Gananoque
River.

> GOLDER 13





Shellee Fournier, Chief Administrative Officer Project No. 1898676

Corporation of the Town of Gananoque June 8, 2018

Statement of Cultural Heritage Value or Interest

The Clock Tower’s design or physical value lies in its rare three-stage, four-sided form, high degree of
craftsmanship and technical achievement to execute the battered wall construction, and its Romanesque Revival
style. Its lower stage has a double-leaf, semi-circular headed entrance with transom that is flanked by two semi-
circular headed windows, while the internal staircase is lit by ascending tall windows with rock-faced rusticated lug
sills placed between the lesenes or pilaster strips that terminate in semi-circular arches at the corbelled cornice.
The second stage houses the clock, while the third is a belfry capped with a pagoda-style roof.

The historical or associative value of the Clock Tower is through its association with people and firms who have
played an important role in the Town’s history. Charles McDonald —an internationally renowned bridge engineer
and descendent of one of the Town’s founding families— and his wife had the Clock Town built in 1903, retaining
American architect Franklin T. Lent for its design. By then, Lent was well known for his resort and cottage
commissions in the Thousand Islands, upstate New York and Eastern Ontario, as well as his several buildings in
Gananoque. The contract to build the tower was awarded to local construction firm Mitchell and Wilson, a prolific
builder of many large houses and cottages in the area. The Clock Tower also has historical or associative value
for its connection with the Fire Department, who used the tower to dry and store its hoses.

Visually prominent and of similar height to the nearby church steeples, the Clock Tower has contextual value as a
landmark and supports the historic character of its immediate surroundings, which includes the former Post Office.

Description of Heritage Attributes

Key attributes that express the design or physical value of the Clock Tower include its:
m Three-stage composition rendered in the Romanesque Revival style;

m Tall rock-faced rusticated stone foundation;

m  Red brick masonry with battered wall construction and prominent;

m Prominent lesenes (pilaster strips) that terminate in semi-circular arches;

m  Ascending placement of windows on the northeast and southwest tower faces;

m  Double-leaf entrance with semi-circular transom;

m Semi-circular headed windows either side of the entrance; above the front door;
m Rock face rusticated lug sills;

m Corbelled brick cornice at the top of the first stage;

m Low balustrade around the clock;

m  Four clock faces with Roman numerals bordered by pilasters at the second stage;
m Panelled and painted belfry (with bells still retained) at the third stage; and,

m Pagoda-style roof.
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8.0 CLOSURE

The preceding SCHVI proposed for the six Gananoque properties are based on readily accessible information
and considered to be dynamic as new information is contributed or discovered. However, any additions or
alterations should keep in mind that SCHVI should not be exhaustive but rather are to ‘provide sufficient
information to explain the significance of the property’ and ‘focus on what makes the property important’
(MTCS 2006:17).

We trust that this report meets your current needs. If you have any questions, or if we can be of further
assistance, please contact the undersigned at Benjamin_Holthof@golder.com or (613) 328-5598.

GOLDER ASSOCIATES LTD.

Benjamin Holthof, M.Pl., M.M.A. CAHP Brad Drouin, M.A.
Cultural Heritage Specialist Associate, Archaeologist
BH/BD/ca

https://golderassociates.sharepoint.com/sites/18834g/deliverables/6 designated properties schvi_june8.docx
Attachments: Attachment A: By-Law 79-3

Attachment B: By-Law 76-13

Attachment C: By-Law 2005-63

Attachment D: By-Law 78-20

Attachment E: By-Law 78-21
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TOWN OF GANANOQUE

On the Seawaq _— CanaJian Gate\vaq to the 1000 lclaan‘

OFFICE OF THE CLERK AND TREASURER
GANANDOQUE, ONTARIO

March 12, 1979.

Ministry of Culture and Recreation,
77 Bloor Street West, 7th Floor,
Toronto, Ontario. M7A 2RS

Attention: Mrs. Kathy McLaughlin,
Heritage Administration Branch.

We are enclosing a certified copy of By-Law 79-3

a By-law to designate the property known as "The 01d
Foundry" as of historic and architectural value. The
designation was achieved by the co—operation of the L.A.C.A.C.,

the owners Rulman Development Corporation and the Town Council.

Yours very truly,
MAR 1379
ANERTTARE

/NDFUNISTRATION / ./ / %__.
e

Gerald F. Hampton, A.M.C.T.,
Clerk-Treasurer.

c¢c — Rulaman Development Corporation.





" of the Gananogue River according to Plan 86 of the Town is hereby

THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF GANANOQUE

BY-LAW NO,79 — 3 ik 5

WHEREAS THE ONTARIOC HERITAGE ACT, 1974 provides that

the Council of a municipality, if it desires to designate a

property to be of historic or architectural value or interest

shall pass a by-law so designating the property.

NOW THEREFORE, the Council of The Corporation of

the Town of Gananoque enacts as follows:-

1. The building owned by 'Rulaman Development Corporation

known as The Old Foun&ry, located upon Lot 1027A, Block N, East

de51gnated a property of historic and archlteqtur 1 value or

.

interest
Read a first and second time this 20th  day of February ,1979.
44:\ I
Lo e ) , Gesncel - i i
- ,/,. ]
Mayor \—//f Clerk ) y

-

Read 4 third time and finally passed this 20 day of February 1979 .I;
A ‘~ )‘
i

/*/Z“‘,‘” ‘7 "‘4""7;?7 i
— vk !

Clerk i
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TOWN OF GANANOQUE o for 1R -

On the Seawaq — Canaa‘ian Gatewaq to the 1000 lslaan

OFFICE OF THE CLERK AND TREASURER
GANANOQUE, ONTARID
July 1k, 1976.

REGISTERED

Ministry of Culture and Recreation,
HeritageAdministration Brench,

77 Grenville Street, 2nd ¥loow,
Toronto, Ontario.

Dear Sirs:— Re: Ontario Heritage Foundation
Restoration of MacDonald House

Purther to our letter of May Tth, 1976, we are enclosing
a certified copy of By-Law 76-13 with the reasons for designation.
The By-Law has been registered in the Registry Division of Leeds
(Wo. 28) Number 8137k as of July 12, 1976.

We arg also publishing in "The Gananoque Reporter' on
July-21, 1976 the full text of the By-Law along with the reasons

L for desigpation.

e )
) /i 7 We trust the above procedures confirm to the Ontario Heritage
I AN ¥ 4 Boundation.
ey

O’/"ﬁéb

[,., Yours very truly,

%
[ A
2,¢07 Ve ‘
7 ‘: ,,al/‘/ﬂé’”" "
1 Uj{} /g& A H

Gerald F. Hampton, A.M.C.T.,
Clerk-Treasurer.






BY-LAW NUMBER 76- 13

WHEREAS The Ontario Heritage Act 1974 provides that

the council of a municipality if it desires to designate a
property to be of historie or architectural value or interest

shall pass a by-law so designating the property.

NOW THEREFORE the Council of the Corporation of The

Town of Gananoque enacts as follows:-

1. The building owned by the Corporation of The Town of
Gananoque and presently used as a Town Hall and Public Library,

located upon Lot A, Plan 86, East of the Gananoque River, in the
Town of Gananoque, in the County of Leeds is hereby designated a

property of historic and architectural value or interest.

Read a first and second time this 6th  day of  July , 1076

¢
¢
\\//

Read a third time and finally passed this 6thlay oft Jﬁly . 1076

9‘-’%}7

%»«u/“/ W

-

<.
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-
-
~
-
S
~
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Mayor - Clerk

I, Hereby certify this to
he a-drue and correct £opys
cal 7 A \

oooooooooooooooooooo sa

Blark Town of Gananaque






REASONS FOR DESIGNATION

The reasons for the designation of the building
mentioned in the annexed By-law 76 - 13 of The
Corporation of the Town of Gananoque as a property
of historic or architectural value or interesv

are as follows:
It is an example of early 19th century architecture.

It has associations with the founding families of

Gananoque.
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DEC 0323
RECEIVED

NOTICE OF DESIGNATION OF
98 KING STREET EAST
TO BE OF HISTORICAL AND ARCHITECTURAL VALUE
PURSUANT TO THE PROVISIONS OF
THE ONTARIO HERITAGE ACT R.S.0. 1990, CHAPTER O.18

TAKE NOTICE that the Council of the Corporation of the Town of G@ anoque passed”
By-law 2005-63 under Section 29 of the Ontario Heritage Act, R.S.0. 1990, Chapter
0.18, to designate the building located on Lot 10, Plan 86 East of the Gananoque River,
Town of Gananoque, described as Part 1 on Reference Plan 28R-5737, 98 King Street
East, also known as the former Provincial Hotel.

There has been a hotel at the northwest corner of King and Stone Streets since at least the
middle of the 19" century, originally associated with the stagecoach route between York
and Montreal. An 'L’ plan hotel is shown at this location on Wallings map of 1861 and is noted
as the Cheerus Hotel. This structure may have formed the core of the current building as
suggested by the architectural form of the building as pictured in photographs dating from
¢.1885 and later. The building is one of the earliest surviving hotel structures in the Gananoque
area. It has been a Town landmark for over 125 years anchoring Gananoque's main commercial
corner. The hotel's various building campaigns can be seen as representing definable eras in the
growth of the Town. The quality of the original stonework is exceptional, utilizing the local
fissured sandstone laid up in rough courses with more regular material selected/shaped for the
voussoirs and quoins. It is a good example of the relatively sensitive evolution and expansion of
a historic commercial building and of a 2" Empire architectural treatment unusual for the

Gananoque main street.
Additional Information, including a full description of the reasons for designation is

available upon request from the Planning Approvals Coordinator, John Macdonald at
(613) 382-2149, Ext. 126, during regular business hours.

DATED at the Town of Gananoque Steven G. Silver, Clerk
This 7 day of December, 2005 Town of Gananoque

o b. 2/ OC





THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF GANANOQUE
BY-LAW NO. 2005-63

BEING A BY-LAW TO DESIGNATE THE BUILDING KNOWN AS THE FORMER
PROVINCIAL HOTEL, LOCATED AT 98 KING STREET EAST ON THE CORNER
OF STONE STREET NORTH AND KING STREET EAST, GANANOQUE, AS BEING
OF ARCHITECTURAL AND HISTORICAL VALUE,

WHEREAS Section 29 of the Ontario Heritage Act, R.S.0. 1990, c. O.18 as amended,
authorizes the Council of a municipality to enact by-laws to designate buildings and/or
property to be of architectural or historical value or interest;

AND WHEREAS the Council of the Corporation of the Town of Gananoque has caused to be
served on the owners of the building known as the former Provincial Hotel located at 98 King
Street East, Gananoque and upon the Ontario Heritage Foundation, notice of intention to so
designate the aforesaid structure published in the Gananoque Reporter having general
circulation in the municipality; and whereas the reasons for designation are set out in Schedule
B attached hereto;

AND WHEREAS no notice of objection to the proposed designation has been served on the
Clerk of the Municipality;

NOW THEREFORE the Council of the Corporation of the Town of Gananoque enacts as
follows:

1. There is designated as being of architectural and historical value the building known as
the former Provincial Hotel, 98 King Street East, Gananoque, particularly described in
Schedule A attached hereto;

2. The municipal solicitor is hereby authorized to cause a copy of this by-law to be
registered against the building as described in schedule A attached hereto in the proper
land registry office; and

3. The Clerk Treasurer is hereby authorized to cause a copy of this by-law to be served
on the owner of the aforementioned property and on the Ontario Heritage Foundation
and to cause notice of the passing of this by-law to be published in the same
newspaper having general circulation in the municipality.

Read a first and second time this 1 day of

= Sl MR B
/ Mayor

/

Read a third time and finally passed this_Q__ day of _/NOVEHBER: = 2005

| o AN
Mayor P—'/?’/ ~ Clerk






Schedule A

Legal Description:

Lot 10, Plan 86 East of the Ganano

que River, Town of ‘Gananoque, described as Part 1
on Reference Plan 28R-5737.





Schedule B to by-law 2005-63

The Provincial Hotel, corner of Stone and King Streets, Gananoque:
Heritage Designation Report

Background and Building Evolution

There has been a hotel at the northwest corner of King and Stone Streets since at least the
middle of the 19" century, originally associated with the stagecoach route between York
and Montreal. An ‘L’ plan hotel is shown at this location on Wallings map of 1861 and is
noted as the Cheerus Hotel (Fig.1). This structure may have formed the core of the
Provincial Hotel as suggested by the architectural form of the building as pictured in
photographs dating from c.1885 and later (Fig.2). As originally built the main section of
the Provincial Hotel was a five bay, 2 ¥; storey stone structure with gable roof and
returned eaves fronting on to King Street. The main entrance formed the center bay and
had a rectangular transom. A second entrance at the northeast corner also featured a
transom. Three dormers lit the third storey as well as the gable windows with the dormer
peaks treated as pediments. The eave treatment featured paired brackets as would be
typical c.1865 (Italianate influence) and there were tall chimneys with corbelled caps at
the gable peaks. The window and door openings were constructed have with slightly
cambered arches supported by stone voussoirs. Of interest is that while the windows of
the ng Street fagade had been changed to 2/2 by the time of the photo, the earlier 6/6,
mid 19% century sash, remained on the Stone Street section. The original ‘tail’ along
Stone Street was one storey, housing the kitchen and associated services. By the time of
the photograph this had been substantially extended north along the block in frame. In
this era the building sported a prominent wall sign at both public elevations featuring
black lettering and margins on a white background.

Around the turn of the 20™ century the hotel undertook a significant building campaign.
The building was extended in stone west along King one further bay and the gable roof
was replaced by a mansard lit by 6 dormers along King and two at Stone in the 2"
Empire mode. The new western bay contained another entrance with a large sidelight.
This stone was somewhat different, darker and more crystalline than the original leading
to the first coating of the building exterior to provide a uniform appearance. All south
facing openings were outfitted with awnings with a particularly large awning at the main
entrance (Fig.3). Throughout the next decades improvements continued. A wooden porch
and balcony was added at the main entrance with the associated transformation of the
central second storey window into a door. In this era the hotel proprietor was N.
McCarney. Photographs record this balcony as being able to be transformed into a
pavilion with a canvas roof so that summer guests could enjoy the passing parade on
main street.

¢.1940 the Stone Street ‘tail’ was built up to the full height of the main section for a
further five bays and the marquis sign with McCarney’s name as well was erected at the
main eave. It should be noted that all the additions maintained the paired bracket detail
established at the eaves of the original building and new dormers were designed to match
existing. At this time the current main entrance treatment consisting of a wider opening
with a pilastered and bracketed wood surround was set in place and the windows of the
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Fig.2: Original appearance c.1880
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Fig.3: Postcard of Hotel. Note 1907 date.
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Fig.4: The hotel after full expansion ¢.1940






ground storey at King Street widened and reconfigured to include a transom and
sidelights. Most recently ¢.1974 the wooden porch columns were replaced in stone

(Fig.4).

Unfortunately in February 2004 this landmark building was gutted by fire and the roof
essentially destroyed. However the stone walls remain viable and have been confirmed as

being structurally sound (Fig.5).

Evaluation/ Reasons for Designation

It is recommended that this building be designated as being of Historical and
Architectural significance by the Town of Gananoque under Part IV of the Ontario Act
for the following-reasons:

o It is one of the earliest surviving hotel structures in the Gananoque area. It has
been a Town landmark for over 125 years anchoring Gananoque’s main
commercial corner. The hotel’s various building campaigns can be seen as
representing definable eras in the growth of the Town;

e The quality of the original stonework, utilizing the local fissured sandstone laid
up in rough courses with more regular material selected/shaped for the voussoirs
and quoins;

e Asa good example of the relatively sensitive evolution and expansion of a
historic commercial building and of a 2"d Empire architectural treatment unusual
for the Gananoque main street.

Character-defining elements:

e The rubble stone walling of the original building utilizing local stone, with stone
voussoirs to support the remaining original cambered window and door arches
and more carefully squared material at the quoins;

The later stonework of the additions built to blend in to the coursing;
The bracketed eaves, a feature of the original structure expanded to the later
additions;

e The 2™ Empire roofline with dormers. Though much damaged by fire the form
still remains as does the associated stone parapet to the west.






Fig.5: After fire, summer 2004.

List of sources:

Secondary

T. H. Leavitt, History of Leeds and Grenville (Mika, orig. pub 1879)
Ira Scott, Yesterday’s News, Today’s History (Gananoque: 1000 Islands pub. 1982)
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H.W. Hawke, Historic Ganaoque (Mika, 1974)
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF GANANOWE
BY-LAW NO, 78-20

WHEREAS The Ontario Heritage Act, 1974 provides
that the Council of a municipality, 1f it desires.to designate
a property to be.of historic or architectural value or interest

shall pass a by-law so designating the property.

NOW THEREFORE, The Coun¢lil of The Corporation of

the Town of Gananogue enacts as follows:—~

1. The building owned by || I o as

The 0Ld Post Office located upon Lot 14, Block "O", Eagt of the
Gananogue River according to Plan 86 of the town is hereby
designated a property of historic amd architectural value or

interést.

Read a first and second time this 4 day of July , 1978.

Clerk Mayor

Read a third time and finally passed this , day of ., 1978.

;)ZM¢W | W»MWMM

Clerk . Mayor
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THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF GANANOQUE

BY-LAW No.___78-21

WHEREAS The Ontario Heritage Act, 1974 provides that w
the Council of a municipality, if it desires to designate a
property to be of historic or architectural value or interest

shall pass a by-law so designating the property.

NOW THEREFORE, The Council of The Corporation of The

Town of Gananoque enacts as follows:

1. The building owned by The Corporation of The Tovn of
Ganangque known as The Clock Tower located upon part of Block "O", i
Bast of The Gananoque River, aocoyding to Plan 86-o£ the Town
is hereby designated a property of historic and architectural

value or interest.

Read a first and second time this 4th day of Julvy , l978.

Clerk Mayor

Read a third time and finally passed this4 day of July y 1978,

Gy Al

“Clerk
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